

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

The Association Between Self-Efficacy, Patient Health Education, and Self-Management in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis

Julie Vultaggio Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Julie P. Vultaggio

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Deneen Long-White, Committee Chairperson, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Theresa Gibble, Committee Member, Health Education and Promotion Faculty Dr. Justin Kraft, University Reviewer, Health Education and Promotion Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

The Association Between Self-Efficacy, Patient Health Education, and Self-Management in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis

by

Julie P. Vultaggio

MS, California University of Pennsylvania, 2006

BS, State University of New York, 1989

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Education and Promotion

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Although previous researchers have studied education for patients with chronic conditions, they have not adequately considered the relationship between self-efficacy (SE), patient health education, and perception of self-management (SM) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Educating a patient can empower them to better SM. The purpose this study was to examine these associations in this patient population. This quantitative research study featured a descriptive, nonexperimental cross-sectional survey design using nonprobability convenience sampling. The theoretical framework was the social cognitive theory. The independent variables were SE and patient health education. SM was the dependent variable. Patients with RA from a rheumatology clinic and members of a RA Facebook group (n=81) were administered a questionnaire using the SurveyMonkey platform. The questionnaire included the valid and reliable scales Self-Care Behaviors Scale (SCBS), the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES), the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Questionnaire, and the Educational Needs Assessment Tool (ENAT). Descriptive statistics and the chi-square test were used to analyze the data. Results showed that the association between ASES and SCBS was not statistically significant (p = .594). Four out of seven domains of the ENAT showed statistically significant association with SCBS. More than half of the 81 participants indicated that patient health education was important to them. The results of this study may have a positive social change impact by informing patient health educators, physicians and policy makers of strategies that could be used to increase an RA patients' health-related quality of life. RA patients want and need patient health education.

The Association Between Self-Efficacy, Patient Health Education, and Self-Management

in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis

by

Julie P. Vultaggio

MS, California University of Pennsylvania, 2006

BS, State University of New York, 1989

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Education and Promotion

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my mom. She was my biggest fan and cheered me on right to her last days. She inspired my topic of research as I cared for her and my sister; I witnessed the frustrations they had navigating the health care system. She would say "you go girl." I know she will be pleased—even from heaven—that I have accomplished this goal. I also want to thank my husband, Richard, for always supporting the time it has taken to achieve this PhD and for encouraging me through it. I also want to dedicate this to my children! They are grown and married and have children of their own, which I am so blessed by. They have encouraged me to keep going, even in the midst of many adversities, now, then, and always. They are the wind beneath my wings! Lastly, to my grandchildren: I want to inspire you to accept challenges, stretch your comfort zone, reach for the stars, never give up, and accept rejection as an inspiration to learn and grow but never stay down. Climb back up even further and believe in yourself and all that you want to be!

Acknowledgments

Thank you to Dr. Long-White, Dr. Gibble, and Dr. Kraft for supporting me as my dissertation committee. I also want to thank Dr. Kim Kato-Howard for her encouragement. Thank you to Dr. Douglas McCoy for inspiring boldness. Thank you to all the Walden instructors who have guided me along the way. Thank you again to my family who loves me unconditionally every day of my life. Last, thank you to my Lord and savior for giving the strength to keep moving forward despite being diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis and scleroderma during this process, as well as losing my mom, my dad, and my sister. It is because of Him that I live.

List of Tables iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background
Problem Statement5
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses7
Theoretical Framework7
Nature of the Study9
Definitions10
Assumptions12
Scope and Delimitations12
Limitations
Significance14
Summary16
Chapter 2: Literature Review17
Introduction17
Literature Search Strategy
Theoretical Foundation
Literature Review Related to Key Variables20
Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)20
Self-Efficacy

Table of Contents

Self-Management
Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL)28
Patient Education
Summary and Conclusions
Chapter 3: Research Method
Introduction
Research Design and Rationale
Methodology
Population
Sampling and Sampling Procedures
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection37
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs
Data Analysis Plan43
Threats to Validity45
Ethical Procedures45
Summary46
Chapter 4: Results
Introduction47
Data Collection48
Results
Statistical Assumptions
Descriptive Statistics

Statistical Analysis for Chi-Square Test
Summary56
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations
Introduction57
Interpretation of the Findings58
Limitations of the Study63
Recommendations65
Implications
Conclusion67
References
Appendix A: Rheumatoid Arthritis Survey
Appendix B: Research Study Flyer
Appendix C: Permission to Use the Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment
Tool103

List of Tables

Table 1. Descriptive Characteristics of Participants	51
Table 2. Frequencies of the Seven Domains of the ENAT	52
Table 3. Chi-Square Test Results	55

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

There are a growing number of rheumatoid arthritis (RA) patients in the United States and worldwide (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2018). By 2040, at least 26-28% (approximately 78 million) of Americans will have some form of debilitating arthritis (CDC, 2018). The Arthritis Foundation (2019) stated that RA increases the U.S. human and economic burden. RA patients have an increased mortality rate of 60-70% (Arthritis Foundation, 2019). The AF noted that patients with RA will often have increased comorbidities, such as cardiovascular disease, but also increased chances of depression and other mental health issues. In addition, patients with RA have an increased risk of falls and hospitalization, which has a direct and indirect economic impact due to loss of work capabilities and increased medical burden on society due to increased insurance claims and Medicaid/Medicare expenditures (Fleischmann, 2020; McMahon, 2019).

One in four physicians in the United States spends less than 10 minutes with each patient (Mobius MD, 2019). The Samueli Foundation Integrative Health Programs (2019) noted that many health care providers (HCPs) do not have time to educate their patients on chronic conditions or diseases or the knowledge of how to educate their patients effectively, which can leave the patients feeling scared and wondering how to manage their disease process. This has created a large gap in care within the U.S. health care system and is a problem for the management of chronic health conditions (Samueli Foundation Integrative Health Programs, 2019). Educating patients with chronic conditions on disease management has been shown to improve health-related quality of

life (HRQOL) and health outcomes (Claassen et al., 2018; Coskun Benlidayi, 2018; Fertelli, 2020; Lineker et al., 2019; Naqvi et al., 2017; Nessen et al., 2018; Samiei Siboni et al., 2019; Pot-Vaucel et al., 2016). Given the limited time that an HCP has with a patient, a specialized practitioner, such as a health educator, could focus their attention on the patient and provide educational information and services. These patient health education activities can increase the patient's self-efficacy to self-manage their diagnosis and thus improve their quality of life (QoL; Center for Excellence in Primary Care, 2014; Michalik & Spratek, 2018; Ndosi et al., 2016; Senara et al., 2019).

I conducted this quantitative study to explore RA patients' self-efficacy in selfmanagement of their disease and the patient health education that they may have received to help with this process. *Self-management* and *self-care* are often used interchangeably (CDC, 2020c; Grady & Gough, 2014), and both appear in this study. The positive social change implications could be a greater understanding of RA patients' needs and how health education could assist them in achieving a better QoL through self-management of their disease. Additionally, positive social change could come from informing physicians about these needs and possibly impacting policy changes within health care offices to incorporate a health educator to help comanage RA patients' cases.

In Chapter 1, I provide background information regarding RA. The study's problem statement and purpose of the study, along with the research questions (RQs) and hypotheses, are presented. Chapter 1 also includes an introduction to the study's theoretical framework, the nature of the study, and definitions of key terminology.

Chapter 1 concludes with a discussion of the positive social change implications of the research and a preview of Chapter 2.

Background

According to the CDC (2020b), RA is defined as an inflammatory, autoimmune disease where healthy cells in the body are mistaken for harmful cells and attacked by the immune system causing inflammation systemically and damage to the organs and joints of the body. The exact cause of RA is unknown, which can make it difficult to diagnose and treat (Arthritis.org, n.d.; CDC, 2020b). Women are 2 to 3 times more likely to be at a greater risk for RA than men (Obrzud & Gronek, 2018). RA can begin insidiously and at any age; however, it is more common for individuals over the age of 60 (Taylor, 2020). Issues with joint pain and swelling may appear early in the disease process with only a few joints and progressively extend into other joints of the body (Taylor, 2020). HCPs will access the number of swollen joints using a validated formula and may have x-rays taken to observe synovial thickening, or joint deformation (Taylor, 2020). Anticyclic citrullinated protein antibody and/or immunoglobin M rheumatoid factor may or may not show up in the RA patients' blood work (Taylor, 2020). The diagnosis is primarily based on the HCP's observation and clinical judgment (Taylor, 2020).

The CDC (2020b) listed symptoms associated with RA, which could include stiffness in more than one joint, tenderness and swelling in more than one joint, pain or aching in more than one joint, the same symptoms on both sides of the body (such as in both hands or both knees), fatigue or tiredness, weakness, weight loss, and fever. Petrovská et al. (2021) noted that genetic factors, such as the presence of shared epitope or non- human leukocyte antigen loci, and environmental factors, such as smoking, can also be known risk factors for RA. Previously, patients diagnosed with RA might all receive similar treatment (Arthritis.org, n.d.), but today can receive different treatments based on the type of RA that they have. Researchers have identified two broad types of RQ: seropositive RA, which is indicated by the presence of anticyclic citrullinated protein antibodies, and seronegative, which indicates that the patient presents with RA symptoms, but antibodies do not show up in the blood work (Arthritis.org, n.d.).

The American College of Rheumatology gives recommendations for the treatment of RA (Fraenkel et al., 2021). Disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs, such as methotrexate, can be used for treating RA (Fraenkel et al., 2021). Other treatments could include nonsteroidal antiinflammatory agents and/or corticosteroids, reduction of joint stress through physical and occupational therapy, and surgical intervention (Johns Hopkins Arthritis Center, 2021). The goal of HCPs in the treatment of RA is to begin treatment early in the disease process to prevent disability and improve patient outcomes, to have the lowest level of disease activity in the hope of possible remission of RA symptoms and activity (Johns Hopkins Arthritis Center, 2021). The Johns Hopkins Arthritis Center (2021) stated that RA patients and their families must be educated about the nature of RA, disease process itself.

Educational interventions with RA patients can improve HRQoL and selfmanagement of disease conditions (de Almeida Ribeiro Fernandes da Rocha et al., 2020). There is a gap in knowledge about the level of education RA patients receive, and further research should be conducted on educational interventions to improve HRQoL in RA patients (Demmelmaier & Iversen, 2018). Lack of knowledge and motivation can be barriers to good QoL in RA patients (Gwinnutt et al., 2020). Without educational interventions, RA patients' HRQoL can be diminished by increased disability from the disease, thereby limiting daily functioning and activities (Michalik & Spratek, 2018). This study was needed because it may increase awareness around the barriers RA patients may be facing, thus allowing health educators to construct educational tools that could help improve patient's self-efficacy and HRQoL to self-manage their diagnosis (see Brady, 2011; de Almeida Ribeiro Fernandes da Rocha, 2020; Demmelmaier & Iversen, 2018; Gwinnutt et al. 2020; ICT&health, 2017; Michalik & Spratek, 2018; Ndosi et al., 2016; Senara et al., 2019).

Problem Statement

The literature reflects that health education with patients who have chronic conditions should be initiated within not only primary care offices but also chronic condition specialties (Claassen et al., 2018; Fertelli, 2020; Lineker et al., 2019; Lööf & Johansson, 2019; Naqvi et al., 2017; Nessen et al., 2018; Pot-Vaucel et al., 2016; Samueli Foundation Integrative Health Programs, 2019). Current literature on health education interventions with RA patients is limited, however. Health coaching/education has been shown to strengthen the feeling of social support for patients, with the potential to act as a bridge of communication between patients and practitioners (Thom et al., 2016). The researchers who made that findings noted that more research should be done on the incorporation of health education as a means of engaging patients with chronic conditions (Thom et al., 2016).

Although previous researchers (Allegrante, 2018; CDC, 2019d; Dunet & Butterfoss, 2005; Flora et al., 2016; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2015) have studied education for patients with chronic conditions, there is scarce research regarding the relationship between self-efficacy, patient health education, and perception of self-management.(Bearne et al., 2017; Beauvais et al., 2019; Denneson et al., 2019; Ndosi et al., 2016; Nessen et al., 2019; Samueli Foundation Integrative Health Programs, 2019; Senara et al., 2019; Thom et al., 2016). This study addressed this gap by building on the historical research done on RA patients' self-efficacy and their ability to selfmanage their disease state. I assessed patient health education after diagnosis and baseline self-efficacy.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the association between self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management in patients with RA. Knowledge gained from this study concerning RA patients, self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management could shed light on barriers for patients that could impair daily activities. Using the results of the study, health care professionals could develop patient health education to increase RA patients' QoL. The independent variables of this study were self-efficacy and patient health education. Self-management was the dependent variable in this study.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

I used the social cognitive theory (SCT), which includes the concept of selfefficacy, as the theoretical framework for this study. Following are the RQs and hypotheses for the current study:

RQ1. What is the association between self-efficacy and self-management? H_01 : There is no association between self-efficacy and self-management. RQ2. What is the association between patient health education and self-management?

 H_02 : There is no association between patient health education and selfmanagement.

RQ3: What patient health education do RA patients want or need?

 H_03 : RA patients do not need patient health education.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework for this study was the SCT, specifically the construct of self-efficacy (Glanz et al., 2015). The SCT was developed as an extension of Albert Bandura's social learning theory and has the basic premise that humans learn and behave based upon their experiences and observations of others (Glanz et al., 2015; Grim & Hortz, 2017). Bandura's SCT posits that a person's behaviors are influenced by three determinants: personal (self-perception, beliefs, and goals), behavioral (self-efficacy, skills), and environmental (circumstances that surround a person; Glanz et al., 2015). Grim and Hortz (2017) noted that self-efficacy is the predominant construct in the SCT and is defined as a person's belief (or perception) that they have control over their actions. This is a primary motivator to behavior change.

Demmelmaier and Iversen (2018) conducted a systematic review of peerreviewed articles concerning physical activity (PA) interventions with RA patients that were published between 1980 and 2015. Demmelmaier and Iversen reviewed 11 out of the 245 articles found and stated that behavioral theories were rarely used, indicating the need to base PA interventions with RA patients on evidence-based theories. The SCT was the most widely used theory in Demmelmaier and Iversen's systematic review with the emphasis on the key construct of self-efficacy. Shamizadeh et al. (2019) noted that the constructs of the SCT, such as self-efficacy, goal setting, and outcome expectations, were predictors of PA levels. Joseph et al. (2017) utilized the SCT for a PA intervention with African American women to understand the cultural relevance of the constructs of the SCT in increasing levels of PA and found that the SCT was a successful theoretical framework to use in the intervention.

Numerous researchers who have studied chronic condition management have used the SCT and identified the importance of self-efficacy (Allegrante, 2018; Bearne et al., 2017; Demmelmaier & Iversen, 2018; Joseph et al., 2017; Shamizadeh et al., 2019). Because of the extensive research and support for the SCT, most notably self-efficacy (Glanz et al., 2015), I consider it appropriate for the study's theoretical framework. The logical connections between the framework presented and the nature of this study include Glanz et al. (2015) noted that Bandura's SCT posits that a person's behaviors are influenced by three determinants: personal (self-perception, beliefs, and goals), behavioral (self-efficacy, skills), and environmental (circumstances that surround a person). One of the tools I used for my investigation was a valid and reliable questionnaire rooted in the SCT, the Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES; Stanford Patient Education Research Center, n.d). I used ASES to evaluate RA patients' current level of self-efficacy. Grim and Hortz (2017) noted that self-efficacy is the predominant construct in the SCT and is defined as a person's belief (or perception) that they have control over their actions, and this is a primary motivator to behavior change. Understanding an RA patients' level of self-efficacy may help a health educator know what tools to utilize and/or type of intervention to incorporate to have better patient outcomes (Jackson et al., 2020; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2015).

Nature of the Study

I used a quantitative framework. This quantitative, nonexperimental crosssectional survey design study was conducted using a convenience sample of patients with RA from rheumatology clinics, other physician offices, and an RA Facebook group with 68,000 members. To be eligible for the study, individuals had to be (a) a person who had been diagnosed with RA, (b) an adult 18 years of age or older, (c) currently seeing a practitioner for RA, (d) English speaking, and (e) a U.S. citizen.

I used the SCT as the theoretical framework (Glanz et al., 2015). The independent variables included self-efficacy and patient health education received. The dependent variable was self-management. An online questionnaire was designed using reliable and valid tools and scales, in particular the ASES, which was developed to measure a patient's belief/self-efficacy that they could manage daily activities despite possible pain (Brady, 2011; Lorig et al., 2004; Stanford Patient Education Research Center, n.d.). Demographics, such as race, age, geographical location, education level, and marital status, were collected using items from Section 8 of the 2020 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS; CDC, 2021b). The Self-Care Behaviors Scale (SCBS; Nadrian et al., 2019) was used to measure the dependent variable, self-management. In addition, items on RA from Section 7 of the 2019 BRFSS (CDC, 2019b) were included referring to possible patient health education received by the RA patient. Additionally, questions from the Educational Needs Assessment Tool (ENAT; Edworthy et al., 1995) were used to investigate patient health education received by the RA patient and/or the patient health education desired. A copy of the questionnaire is included in Appendix A.

I housed the online survey on the platform SurveyMonkey. Potential participants were provided with a link to the survey via the recruitment flyer (see Appendix B). Participants were informed that the survey was optional. A screening question at the beginning of the survey asked if they had previously completed the survey. In addition to descriptive analysis, the nonparametric chi-square test was used for the analysis of the data using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software Version 28.

Definitions

Auto-immune disease: A disease that occurs when a healthy immune system, whose purpose is to protect the human against foreign bodies that can be dangerous or deadly by causing disease or infections, is not working properly; it can attack the body's healthy organs, tissues, and/or cells causing a weakening or damage to the healthy functions of the body (National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, 2021). *Chronic conditions or diseases*: A condition lasting 1 year or more that limits daily activities or requires ongoing medical attention (CDC, 2021a).

Comorbidities: The existence of more than one condition or disease state within a person at the same time (CDC, 2019a).

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL): An individual's perception of their mental and physical health over time (CDC, 2021c; Samiei Siboni et al., 2019).

Patient health education: Education and information regarding a patient's chronic condition or disease that emphasizes their understanding of how to self-manage their disease and the benefits and risks about treatments and decision-making process (Pellisé et al., 2009).

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA): An inflammatory auto-immune disease that is chronic and can impact multiple systems within the body, including joints, the heart, lungs, eyes, tissues, and blood vessels; the disease causes a person's immune system to mistake healthy tissue and cells for unhealthy tissue and cells and attack the own body's systems (CDC, 2020b; Mayo Clinic, 2021).

Self-efficacy: The ability of an individual to have the confidence to perform a certain task or activity (The American Psychological Association, 2020).

Self-management: The ability of an individual to manage daily living skills of a chronic disease or illness that improve daily QoL and health outcomes (Grady & Gough, 2014). Self-management and self-care are often used interchangeably (CDC, 2020c; Grady & Gough, 2014). I use both terms in the study.

Self-management education: Strategies to help a person learn how to improve their health-related quality of life by learning skills that can assist with daily living (CDC, 2019d).

Social determinants of health (SDOH): Any condition in a person's environment that impacts their health risks and outcomes (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ], 2013).

Quality of life (QoL): A broad term that includes HRQoL as well other subjective measures such as one's values, spirituality, environment, jobs, family, and so forth (CDC, 2021c).

Assumptions

I assumed that the anonymous nature of the online questionnaire would invoke honest and truthful answers to the questions as opposed to answers that participants thought would be socially desirable. It was also assumed that participants would volunteer and have no pressure or coercion from me or a HCP to complete the survey. Another assumption was that the population surveyed would have active RA and be active in treatment for RA (per the answer to Survey Question 3 in Appendix A).

Scope and Delimitations

This study had several delimitations. One delimitation of this study was its generalizability. The target sample was limited to U.S. citizens who have active RA, who are patients of the physician's office, and/or are members of the Facebook page named Rheumatoid Arthritis Group. Therefore, the study may not accurately assess whether individuals with RA who live in other countries experience the study phenomenon in the same way. I limited the study to the constructs of the SCT due to the literature indicating the importance of self-efficacy in HRQoL (Joseph et al., 2017; Shamizadeh et al., 2019). Further, the ASES (Stanford Patient Education Research Center, n.d.) was chosen as a tool of assessment to measure levels of self-efficacy. Section 8 of the 2020 BRFSS (CDC, 2021b), in addition to items on RA from Section 7 of the 2019 BRFSS (CDC, 2019b), were included to obtain demographics of the participants and possible health education received by the RA patient. The SCBS was used to measure the dependent variable, self-management (Nadrian et al., 2019). The ENAT was used to investigate patient health education received by the RA patient and/or the patient health education desired (Edworthy et al., 1995). A copy of the questionnaire is included in Appendix A. Finally, the inclusion of participants who were a part of the RA Facebook page may not reflect the experience of the general population.

Limitations

The study had several limitations. The COVID-19 pandemic began in the U.S. January 3, 2020 and is still ongoing (World Health Organization, 2022). I began data collection in April, 2022. This may have impacted the sample size taken from the RA clinics or other physician offices due to patients limiting their access to care during the pandemic (Carter et al., 2022). Patient recruitment and data collection may have been impacted by these circumstances and the COVID-19 restrictions at certain HCP offices. Another factor that may have impacted sample size was that several practitioners needed to refer patients to yield the desired sample size. Participants from the RA Facebook page may have been limited by participation requirements. Recruitment was to continue until the desired number of participants for the sample size calculation was achieved. I took care to protect the personally identifiable information) of participants. Patients were informed that their responses would not be linked to them. Given the impact of COVID-19 and the potential issues with patient recruitment, this may have impacted the generalizability of the sample size to the overall RA population.

Another limitation was response bias in the form of social desirability. Respondents may have answered the questions the way they thought I might have wanted them to answer instead of what was true for them. Last, a limitation was that only those who had access to the internet were able to participate in the study. According to the Pew Research Center (2021), in 2021 approximately 7% of the adult population in the United States did not use the internet. Individuals aged 65 and older were more likely to report never using the internet or going online (Pew Research Center, 2021). Older individuals, men, African Americans, individuals with less than are high school education, individuals at lower-income levels, and rural residents were also more likely to be among the noninternet user group (Pew Research Center, 2021).

Significance

This study has significance because when a patient is diagnosed with a chronic condition such as RA, most often the HCP does not have time or often the skill to educate the patient on how to manage their diagnosis (Samueli Foundation Integrative Health Programs, 2019). Research indicates that educating a patient can empower them to better self-management (Beniamin et al., 2019; Burghardt, 2019; Griffiths et al., 2018; Forsyth et al., 2018; Hagen et al., 2020; Küçükdeveci, 2019; Sparks, n.d.). Health education is an

opportunity to build a trusting relationship with the patient, and techniques such as motivational interviewing can be incorporated to allow the patient to self-identify SDOH that can be barriers to a good QoL (Van Horn et al., 2021). Health education can also encourage positive reinforcement of the knowledge that patients have acquired during the educational sessions, as well as set appropriate SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, relevant, time-bound) goals (Arthritis Foundation, n.d.; Rodrigues et al., 2019).

The positive social change implications of this study stem from the knowledge it yields regarding the levels of self-efficacy of RA patients, the education they have received, and their ability to carry out self-management activities with their RA symptoms. The information obtained from the study could help close the gap between patients leaving the HCP office without the proper education and/or the comprehension of the education by understanding the barriers the patients are experiencing. The outcome of the study can help practitioners and educators to gain an understanding of the patients' needs. Furthermore, the positive social change implications could also involve changing policies within the physician's office or medical schools regarding partnerships between educators and HCPs. Standard operating procedures could be added, changed, or implemented for how chronic condition management is taught within medical schools and handled in real-world offices, which could positively impact the HRQoL of the RA patient. Health education in every physician's office could close the gap in the U.S. health care system of patients walking out of an office fearful and wondering how to cope with their new (or previous) diagnosis.

Summary

Chapter 1 provided a foundation for exploring the level of self-efficacy and education an RA patient receives and/or may need to improve or sustain their HRQoL and self-management of their RA. There currently exists a gap in the health care system between a patient being diagnosed with RA and the patient being given the education and tools for improved daily living. RA self-management courses and education exists, but there is a gap in the literature concerning the level of education being given within the providers' offices (CDC, 2019c, 2020b). The goal of the study was to gain a greater understanding of the needs of the RA patient to better serve them within a primary care office or RA clinic. The results may indicate areas of health education that the patient needs to improve self-efficacy, self-management, and HRQoL. In Chapter 2, I review the literature on RA, self-efficacy, self-management, and HRQoL, as well as provide more detailed information about the theoretical framework of the study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Educating a patient about their chronic condition (in this case, their RA) has been shown to improve the patient's feeling of social support and open up the lines of communication with their educator and possibly their physician (Thom et al., 2016). Yet there is scarce research regarding the type of patient health education RA patients receive and how that impacts their ability to self-manage their disease. The purpose of this study was to address this problem and gap in the literature by investigating the patient health education received by the RA patient within their practitioner's office and how that impacts self-management. I used Bandura's concept of self-efficacy within SCT as the theoretical framework for this study because it focuses on the patients' ability to have the confidence to self-manage their condition. The positive social change implications of the study include providing knowledge that can potentially be used to shape the patient health education that RA patients receive from their HCPs and overcome the barriers that RA patients experience that impair obtaining a successful HRQoL. The findings may also inform potential policy changes for how patient health education is handled within health care practices and medical school training.

In this chapter, I discuss the theoretical framework of the SCT and how it related to the study. The strategy for the literature search is also discussed. Last, I discuss the key variables associated with this study and provide a synthesis of the associated literature.

Literature Search Strategy

I began the literature search by investigating the Health Sciences Research Page along with the databases ProQuest Health & Medical, Embase, and EBSCOhost. I used SAGE Knowledge for theory searches and SAGE Research Methods Online for methodology searches. Keywords such as *health** OR *health education* AND *rheumatoid arthritis*; *social cognitive theory* OR *self-efficacy* OR *self-management*; *patient education* OR *patient counseling*; *quantitative*; *Likert scales* OR *self-efficacy scales* OR *selfmanagement scales* OR *perception of pain scales*. I used the advanced search feature to access Walden dissertations and doctoral studies. I did not find any dissertations related to arthritis or RA from 2019 to 2021 using *quantitative study* as a search term. I searched for literature from peer-reviewed journals that was published within the past 5 years. I found limited literature surrounding the patient health education of patients with RA.

Theoretical Foundation

I drew from Bandura's SCT (Glanz et al., 2015). The SCT was developed in the 1960s by Albert Bandura when he originally conducted experiments to study human behavior, and as he continued to study, his theory evolved from the social learning theory into the SCT. Bandura theorized that cognitive processes were more involved than he thought in the development of certain behaviors (Glanz et al., 2015). Eventually, Bandura's theory developed into a triadic, dynamic model called *reciprocal determinism*, which theorized that human behavior was a combination of socioenvironmental, cognitive, and personal behaviors all interacting together (Glanz et al., 2015). Glanz et al. (2015) noted that the SCT is one of the most highly used theories in clinical and nonclinical settings for motivating and understanding health behavior change and is a valuable public health tool.

According to Bandura's SCT, behavior change and the prediction of behavior change involve a personal sense of control, with cognitive influences of self-efficacy, knowledge, and outcome expectations (Glanz et al., 2015). A personal cognitive factor of the SCT is the ability of a person to self-regulate or self-determine their behavior, to reflect upon that behavior, and to analyze their behavior (Glanz et al., 2015). A component of this action is the ability of a person to feel confident in performing a behavior (which is defined as self-efficacy; Glanz et al., 2015). Self-care is a component of self-efficacy and can be defined as one's confidence to master or control behavior. Additionally, the SCT identifies constructs that influence human behavior such as outcome expectations, perceived barriers, and social support (Smith et al., 2019).

These additional constructs are important in maintaining a behavior change along with how RA patients can self-manage their disease daily. These were not measured in this study, but merit further examination in future studies. The SCT is particularly interesting as it is one of the only theories used in health promotion and patient health education that considers how behavior can be maintained over time, versus just the initiation of a behavior (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). Reciprocal determinism is a central construct of the SCT. The RA patient can be influenced by the responses that they have in their environment, which could mean the social support they receive from family and friends (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). The RA patient's behavioral capability (a construct of the SCT) can be influenced by not only

the patient health education they receive but their understanding of how to apply that education in their day-to-day lives (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). Therefore, it is a logical conclusion that RA patients must not only have patient health education provided to them, but they also must understand how to apply that education to their daily lifestyle and feel confident that they can practice those learned behaviors (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). Self-efficacy is an important construct of the SCT due to the importance of an RA patient's ability to feel confident that they can self-manage their disease.

The SCT, along with a major construct of the SCT-self-efficacy, was the theoretical foundation for this study. Mastery of self-efficacy may not change the RA patient's physical condition but may lead to a better perception of self-management of their disease. The SCT considers the individuals' experiences, social, personal, and environmental, and the impact of those experiences on how they perform a behavior and/or actions (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). The importance of maintaining a level of confidence to perform daily activities for the RA patient was the basis for the selection of the SCT as the theoretical foundation.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)

RA is an auto-immune condition in which a person's body/immune system attacks healthy joints causing swollen (inflamed), stiff, and painful joints (CDC, 2020b). RA over time can cause permanent damage and/or deformity to all the joints of the body, attacking mostly the hands and the feet. RA can lead to fatigue, headaches, body aches (flu-like symptoms), and mild fever (CDC, 2020b). Nodules may form under the skin on the spine, knuckles, pressure points, elbows, hands, feet, and legs causing pain. RA can also attack the organs of the body including the eyes, heart, and lungs. A condition called dysphagia, which is a swallowing disorder, is common in RA patients (Roy et al., 2018). Roy et al. (2018) conducted a study with 100 RA patients and found that 41% of the participants had long-standing dysphagia. This condition can severely impair an RA patients' QoL (Roy et al., 2018). Unfortunately, many of the medications used to treat RA increase the risks of infections, lymphoma, abnormal body composition, heart disease, and lung disease (Mayo Clinic, 2021).

Normally a person's immune system protects against infections and other invaders (Mayo Clinic, 2021). However, with RA, the immune system attacks itself (Mayo Clinic, 2021). Researchers and physicians do not fully understand the cause of RA, although genetics may play a role in RA, making one more susceptible to environmental factors such as viruses, infections, and bacteria (Mayo Clinic, 2021). The environmental factor of smoking is known to cause inflammation in the lungs, and scientists have shown that this inflammation can lead to protein citrullination, which can induce the production of anti- cyclic citrullinated peptide antibodies, causing the onset of RA in genetically susceptible individuals (Arthritis.org, n.d.).

RA is most often diagnosed between the ages of 40-60 but can occur at any age (Arthritis Foundation, 2019; Mayo Clinic, 2021). Women are about 3 more times likely to get RA than men for reasons that are still unclear to researchers (Mayo Clinic, 2021). One in 12 women and one in 20 men will get some form of rheumatic inflammatory disease in their lifetime (Arthritis Foundation, 2019). It has been suggested that women's immune systems, and hormones such as estrogen, may play a role (Mayo Clinic, 2021). RA is difficult to diagnose as it can mimic many other diseases-Lyme disease for example (Mayo Clinic, 2021). An elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR, also known as sed rate) or C-reactive protein (CRP) level, in blood work, could be an indication of systemic inflammation but is not the only factor that comes into play with diagnosis (Mayo Clinic, 2021). The physician will conduct a thorough physical exam including checking for swollen, red, or inflamed joints (Mayo Clinic, 2021). Imaging, such as x-rays and MRI's can be done to keep track of joint integrity over time (Mayo Clinic, 2021).

There is currently no cure for RA (Mayo Clinic, 2021). Research has indicated that remission is possible in some cases when treatment begins for the patient with the use of disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (Mayo Clinic, 2021). Many of the medications used to treat RA have damaging side effects and must be tracked by a physician, such as permanent eye damage, cancer susceptibility, and lowered immune reaction to infections and viruses (Mayo Clinic, 2021). Other treatments can include physical therapy, counseling, support groups, and on occasion surgery to replace a joint or joints (Mayo Clinic, 2021). Bearne et al. (2017) note that treatment decisions should be based on good communication between the RA patient and their HCP. Knowledge of RA is essential for the patient during treatment so the patient can self-manage their RA and have concise conversations with their practitioners about their disease process (Bearne et al., 2017; Beauvais et al., 2019). Ideally, a holistic approach to the treatment

of RA involves a team of practitioners working with the RA patient, including HCP, pain management, physical therapist/physiotherapist, nutritionist, and pharmacist (not inclusive) (Beniamin Szmelcer et al., 2019). Gwinnutt et al. (2020) note that for patients to be successful in self-managing and/or treatment of their RA, their barriers to success must be addressed, such as lack of patient health education or knowledge, lifestyle choices, or changes, levels of pain, self-efficacy, and pain.

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy was a key variable in this study as it is a core construct in the SCT (Glanz et al., 2015). Self-efficacy is defined as a person's level of confidence that they have to execute a behavior(s) for a desirable outcome (Glanz et al., 2015). Brady (2011) conducted a review of self-efficacy measurement tools, such as the ASES, Rheumatoid Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale, Children's Self-Efficacy Scale, Parent's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale, and the Chronic Disease Self-Efficacy Scale). Brady noted that patients with higher levels of self-efficacy were correlated with greater medication adherence, positive changes in pain perception and depression. This review is informative as to the validity, reliability, strengths, and weaknesses of each of these scales. Brady found a significant correlation between the ASES and the Rheumatoid Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale.

Sessford et al. (2019) conducted a quasi-experimental study with 86 patients to investigate the impact that the SCT had on arthritis patients overcoming barriers by having a high level of self-efficacy. Patients with lower levels of self-efficacy had a greater perception of barriers to exercise adherence to improve their RA symptoms than those with a higher level of self-efficacy (Sessford et al., 2019). Furthermore, Sessford et al. (2019) suggested that further research be conducted on assessing levels of self-efficacy in the RA patient early in the diagnosis to address potential barriers.

Joseph et al. (2017) investigated the cultural relevance of the SCT and PA among 25 African American women using the SCT constructs of self-efficacy and self-regulation. This study confirms that the use of the SCT was pertinent in understanding the barriers to regular PA and that further patient health education around social/cultural norms and PA, in general, could help alleviate hesitation of the women in this study to participate in PA due to a lack of knowledge of the benefits of regular exercise despite prior conceptual thinking around the topic (Joseph et al., 2017). Joseph et al. (2017) found that some of the results obtained were relevant to all women regardless of race or ethnicity and that having shared testimonies and success stories of women gaining self-efficacy from a PA program could help with alleviating barriers.

In support of the use of the SCT and the construct of self-efficacy in this study, Jackson et al. (2020) conducted a meta-analysis of studies concerning the use of the ASES among RA and osteoarthritis patients. Initially, 1658 studies met the selection criteria, and 47 studies with 9222 patients were included in the examination (Jackson et al., 2020). Jackson et al. (2020) concluded that patients with higher self-efficacy had less suffering and had a better QoL. Conversely, Jackson et al. (2020) found that lower levels of self-efficacy did not demonstrate the ability to self-manage their disease and were discouraged about their QoL. Gilkey and Garcia (2010) interviewed a prominent and prolific researcher in the area of self-efficacy and self-management of chronic diseases, Dr. Katie Lorig. Dr. Lorig candidly revealed that physicians and nurses do not have the time to spend educating a patient on their chronic condition and that this lack of patient health education leads to lower levels of self-efficacy thereby causing a lack of self-management of chronic conditions (Gilkey & Garcia, 2010). Dr. Lorig also pointed out the lack of patient health education that health education students may have in how to interact one on one with patients and their families educating them on self-management of their chronic condition (Gilkey & Garcia, 2010). Dr. Lorig felt there was a gap in policy implementation to institute the education of health education students, physicians, and nurses in how to educate the patient (Gilkey & Garcia, 2010). Gilkey and Garcia (2010) state that to accomplish an effective increase in self-efficacy leading to self-management, one must access the current state of the patient's self-efficacy, and knowledge.

Ndosi et al. (2016) conducted a multi-center randomized control study with two groups of RA patients (N=132); one group was given patient health education based on an assessment they took using the ENAT tool and the second group was given general education that was non-specific to their needs. Ndosi et al. (2016) concluded that the purpose of understanding a patient's level of self-efficacy gives understanding as to their level of self-management. Patient health education specific to the level of selfmanagement needs to be done to accomplish a reduction in disease activity and increase a patient's QoL. My study addressed this gap in literature and knowledge by accessing selfefficacy levels of the RA patient and level of patient health education as a foundational
step to understanding what patient health education could help improve the RA patient's self-management and QoL.

Self-Management

Holman and Lorig (2004) state that chronic disease is most likely to continue over a person's lifetime, not to be cured, and must be self-managed by the patient over the patient's lifetime to avoid potentially negative consequences to their condition and their daily life. The AHRQ (2013) defined self-management as the patient's ability to deal with everything that having a chronic condition entails, including symptoms, treatment, emotional impact, physical and social consequences, and lifestyle changes. This also includes the interaction with HCP's and the health care system, in general, to effectively manage a chronic condition (AHRQ, 2013). It is noted that barriers to successful selfmanagement could involve cultural norms, lack of health literacy, lack of health care coverage, access to care, lack of education, and other SDOH (AHRO, 2013). During the early days of the concept of self-management, it was thought that providing general education/health information would improve self-management, but the AHRQ (2013) notes that this has not been shown to improve self-care. Self-efficacy levels, barriers, and educational needs assessment should be investigated to provide the most impactful increase in patient self-management (AHRQ, 2013). Chronic diseases require chronic disease self-management, the definition of which has evolved over the past several decades leading to the inclusion of the control of one's disease process and a patient's HRQOL primarily obtained by an increase in self-efficacy (Miller et al., 2015).

Dineen-Griffin et al. (2019) examined self-management interventions by conducting a systematic review of randomized controlled trials with a total of 58 studies from 18 countries. Specifically, Dineen-Griffin et al. (2019), investigated the involvement of HCPs in the support of self-management with their patients. The study highlighted the importance of self-management in HRQoL as well as the importance of patient/doctor communication (Dineen-Griffin et al., 2019). The study found that HCPs had several barriers to implementing self-management programs, such as time, confidence in the implementation itself, and knowledge required to create a successful self-management outcome (Dineen-Griffin et al., 2019). The authors reflected on the importance of the self-management programs and felt there could be further research on how to create strategic processes for creating successful self-management programs for patients with chronic conditions (Dineen-Griffin et al., 2019).

Garnett et al. (2018) conducted a systematic review of 30 articles published between 2000 and 2017 investigating self-management in community-dwelling older adults, in terms of financial resources needed, acquiring patient health education, involvement of the health care system, and disease management. The authors recalled how self-management began with the development of the SCT and Bandura's construct of self-efficacy and how health care principles have shifted from a model of illness care to a model of promoting health and sustaining health (Garnett et al., 2018). They concluded that policies need to be changed to incorporate self-management programs within primary care (Garnett et al., 2018), but that better guidelines need to be developed on how to access the creation of these programs. Van de Velde et al. (2019) looked at ten attributes of self-management conducting a systematic review of the literature in which it was concluded that a more workable definition must be created for self-management (which the authors give an example of) and that the key factors to gaps in literature were that patient health education was needed for the patients and the training that is needed for the HCP. Van de Velde et al. (2019) noted the shift in the World Health Organizations' definition of health from *a state of complete physical, mental, and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity; to the ability to adapt to one's environment.* They concurred with other scholars that the addition to that definition that should be included is *the ability to adapt and self-manage in the face of social, physical, and emotional challenges (*Van de Velde et al., 2019). Interventions directed towards self-management have been shown to have a positive impact on patient outcomes, however, consensus on the meaning of selfmanagement and how to achieve it is still debatable (Van de Velde et al., 2019).

Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL)

The World Health Organization a half a century ago broadly defined health by using mortality or morbidity as a measure of a country's health status (CDC 2021c). Since that time, health scientists and health educators define health as a multidimensional process integrating one's physical, mental, and social health (CDC 2021c). A person's quality of life (QoL) can include health but is much broader in meaning and can include anything from one's environment, relationships, occupation, income, education, etc. (CDC 2021c). Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) has had an expanded definition since around the 1980's-it included aspects of QoL that impact someone's health (CDC, 2021c). For the RA patient, HRQoL is the umbrella that may include factors such as how well they self-manage their RA, the amount of knowledge they have regarding their disease, and the level of self-efficacy they possess (CDC, 2021b). Samiei et al. (2019) noted that chronic disease contributes to 80% of the global burden of disease and that most of these diseases impaired a patient's HRQoL. Samiei et al. (2019) conducted a cross-sectional study with 625 participants to investigate the QoL (the researcher used Qol and HRQoL interchangeably in this study) of patients with chronic diseases and found that HRQoL should be evaluated as part of the patient's ability to self-manage their disease. Interventions and patient health education should be created and planned based on the results of understanding the barriers and limitations a patient may encounter (Samiei et al., 2019).

Coskun (2018) conducted a literature review on barriers to HRQoL of RA patients' sleep quality. The author noted that proinflammatory cytokines impact the gene function of the regulation of sleep patterns (Coskun, 2018). Decreased sleep can lead to a decreased HRQoL due to fatigue, mood disorders, and increased perception of pain (Coskun, 2018). It was noted that barriers impacting HRQoL for the RA patient, including quality of sleep, should be reviewed by practitioners when assessing an RA patient (Coskun, 2018).

De Almeida Ribeiro Fernandes da Rocha et al. (2020) conducted a systematic review of randomized control studies of interactive digital interventions used for PA and HRQoL in patients with inflammatory RA. A total of 7056 titles and abstracts were screened for eligibility along with 25 studies (de Almeida Ribeiro Fernandes da Rocha et al., 2020). PA interactive digital interventions did not show success in increased levels of exercise or HRQoL but researchers noted that the studies did not investigate self-efficacy in the patients-which is a gap in the literature and should be investigated further (de Almeida Ribeiro Fernandes da Rocha et al., 2020).

Wang et al. (2021) conducted a study with 191 Chinese patients who had RA using the Brief Illness Perceptions Questionnaire (BIPQ) to measure an RA patient's cognition and perception of their RA. The authors noted that an RA patient's HRQoL is impacted by the patient's illness perception and perceptions of symptoms (Wang et al., 2021). As illness perception decreased, HRQoL measurements decreased (Wang et al., 2021). The authors noted that further study must be done on the many factors that comprise an RA patient's HRQoL, namely a patient's perception of their illness (Wang et al., 2021).

Patient Education

Although pharmacological treatments are used with patients who have RA, patient health education is imperative for an RA patient's HRQoL (Pérez et al., 2020). Pérez et al. (2020) noted that past research has shown that non-directed educational efforts do not positively impact an RA patient's HRQoL, that practitioners should use a tool, such as the ENAT to assess patient health educational needs. Pérez et al. (2020) conducted a multicenter, observational, analytical, cross-sectional study with 496 patients across Spain to assess the needs of the RA patients and utilized the Spanish version of the ENAT (SpENAT) as one of the assessment tools. Other tools utilized were the disease activity measured by the DAS28, and the functional capacity measured through the health assessment questionnaire-HAQ-A. Pérez et al. (2020) found that higher patient health educational needs were the result of RA patients with higher levels of disease activity, especially in women compared to men (p = .0023, p = .0041, and p = .0437, respectively). However, no difference in emotional needs was found between earlier RA and established RA in pain management (Pérez et al., 2020). In addition, Pérez et al. (2020) noted that RA patients were found to seek after patient health education primarily from their Rheumatologist.

Paterick et al. (2017) found that to have better patient outcomes, physicians must spend more time educating their patients. It has been thought for many years that inadequate health literacy has led to inadequate understanding of patient health education (Paterick et al., 2017). However, Paterick et al. (2017) noted that it is the responsibility of the physicians to put into place the most effective methods of educating patients within their practices. The detriment of patients' low level of health literacy and impaired or inadequate patient health education is critical to patient outcomes, long-term health consequences, and patient self-management (Paterick et al., 2017). Physicians have limited time to spend educating patients and Pérez et al. (2020) stated that RA patients have emotional needs that require a holistic approach to care which should include other health specialists (such as health educators) in their offices to educate patients. Both Paterick et al. (2017) and Ndosi et al. (2016) studies investigated the effects of patient health education based on patient needs and highlighted that there was a reduction in emotional needs with patients who were informed. This gap was addressed in the present study by understanding what the patient health educational needs are of RA patients that participated in the study and what their level of self-efficacy was, in self-managing their RA.

Farley et al. (2019) conducted a study that examined patient health education and shared decision-making between the RA patient and practitioner. The qualitative study was conducted at a rheumatology and clinical immunology clinic at the University of Vermont using a treat-to-target approach with nurses conducting telephonic patient health education with 26 patients (Farley et al., 2019). The researchers found that RA patients benefited from the telephonic calls, however, the study found that RA patients must be given tailored patient health education and that there is a gap in the literature about the type of patient health education to disseminate to RA patients for better patient outcomes (Farley et al, 2019). The current study examined this gap in care by investigating RA patients' current level of patient health education and how that relates to their self-efficacy to self-manage their RA disease daily.

Taibanguay et al. (2019) conducted a 12-week patient health educational intervention with 185 Thai RA patients to improve medication adherence. The 185 participants were divided into two groups; one group received 30-minute directed counseling and a disease information pamphlet about medication adherence, and the other group received the pamphlet alone (Taibanguay et al., 2019). All participants were required to complete a medication-taking behavior (MTB) questionnaire (Taibanguay et al., 2019). At the end of the 12 weeks, both groups showed significant improvement in medication adherence, however only the counseled group showed improvement in their MTB score. The difference in the MTB scores was not significant. Taibanguay et al. (2019) concluded that the reason for this outcome could be that the study did not consider the patient's previous knowledge or level of beliefs (self-efficacy) of their disease state and that a more successful outcome could be obtained by furthering the understanding of the patient's emotional needs and a relationship between practitioner and the patient.

Lineker et al. (2019) conducted an online needs assessment with 333 practitioners in Canada to improve primary care providers' recommendations/adherence to arthritis best practices and increase confidence and satisfaction with their ability to manage arthritis since Canada has difficulty in reaching providers in remote areas of the country. It was noted by Lineker et al. (2019) that providers felt a lack of confidence in how to properly educate and treat their patients, which inspired the development of the Getting a Grip on Arthritis (GRIP). Furthermore, clinical practice guidelines (CPGs) were developed to address the issue of the continual updating of arthritis medical information that can be used by practitioners to deliver optimal care to the RA patient (Lineker et al., 2019). Lineker et al. (2019) reported that arthritis care showed improvement from the health education that the survey and guidelines provided the practitioners, and that learning modules would be updated as new information is received in a web-based medical education program to HCPs across Canada (Lineker et al., 2019).

Beauvais et al. (2019) conducted a multi-centric survey involving both a literature review and second distributing a survey among patients with RA, spondylarthritis, psoriatic arthritis to investigate which knowledge is considered essential for patients to manage their arthritis. Beauvais et al. (2019) found that general knowledge is important, but more research should be done on a patients' decision-making skills and having a multidisciplinary team that can deliver specified directed patient health education. Furthermore, Beauvais et al. (2019) stated that patient health education is an essential part of an RA patient's ability to self-manage their disease, however, a gap in the literature exists on "which" knowledge/patient health education a patient may need. The current study addressed this gap in the literature.

Summary and Conclusions

The literature reviewed showed that patient health education can increase the level of self-efficacy of an RA patient along with more positive health outcomes such as pain reduction and medication adherence. However, the literature also points out that there are gaps in the research and the authors recommend further study in patient health education of RA patients. The current study examined this gap in care by investigating RA patients' current level of patient health education and how that relates to their selfefficacy to self-manage their RA disease daily.

Chapter 3 discusses the methodology of the study, including the research design, sample size, and recruitment procedures. The chapter also outlines the instrumentation and data analysis plan. It concludes with a discussion on threats to validity and ethical concerns.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to investigate RA patients' current level of patient health education and how that relates to their self-efficacy to self-manage their RA disease daily. The study may provide knowledge concerning an RA patient's health education that they have received to self-manage their RA and their levels of selfefficacy. This knowledge could shed light on barriers that could impair patients' daily activities. Health educators could develop patient health education from the results of the study that could be used to increase RA patients' QoL.

In Chapter 3, I provide detailed information about the methodology and design of this study. The variables, the connection of the RQs to the research design, the target population, and the population size are discussed. I address the sampling criteria and power analysis along with the tool used for determining the sample size. A thorough discussion about recruitment procedures, informed consent, and how the data were collected is presented. The chapter concluded with a summary of the information presented in it.

Research Design and Rationale

This quantitative descriptive research study featured a nonexperimental crosssectional survey design using an online survey (see Appendix A). The independent variables were self-efficacy and patient health education. Self-management was the dependent variable. Survey design is appropriate for quantitative research, and this study in particular, due to access to patients from a rheumatology clinic and the Facebook page named Rheumatoid Arthritis Group (see Burkholder et al., 2016). Researchers often use a survey design to collect data concerning attitudes or perceptions (Burkholder et al., 2016). Using a survey design, I explored the relationship between RA patients' selfefficacy, patient health education received, and self-management. A survey design is also appropriate for quickly and inexpensively obtaining information (Burkholder et al., 2016). Quantitative survey researchers can advance the field of social science by obtaining data concerning a specific population to improve the HRQoL of that population (see Burkholder et al., 2016).

Methodology

Population

I conducted this research using a convenience sample of patients with RA from rheumatology clinics and other physician offices as well as the Facebook group named Rheumatoid Arthritis Group. To be eligible, an individual had to be (a) a person who had been diagnosed with RA, (b) an adult 18 years of age or older, (c) currently seeing a practitioner for RA, (d) English speaking, and (e) a U.S. citizen. I performed an a priori power analysis using G*Power Version 3.1 to determine the minimum sample size required. The power analysis showed that a minimum sample size of 80 was adequate to test the hypotheses. Therefore, a sample size of 100 was the goal for the sample size.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

This quantitative descriptive research study featured a nonexperimental crosssectional survey design using nonprobability convenience sampling. I used the nonprobabilistic convenience sampling technique because the sample of participants was convenient and available through patients at doctors' offices and the Facebook page called Rheumatoid Arthritis Group (see Lavrakas, 2008). Convenience samples have less clear generalizability relative to probability samples, but they are inexpensive and easy to implement (Jager et al., 2017). The inherent bias of a convenient sample is that it may not be representative of the larger population (Laerd Dissertation, 2012). An a priori analysis was conducted using G*Power to estimate the sample size for the number of participants for this research study. In G*Power, the goodness-of-fit test-contingency tables were used for the chi-square test with an effect size of 0.5, error probability of 0.05, and power of 0.95. The G*Power analysis revealed that a minimum sample size of 80 was adequate for this study. However, I sought to obtain a sample size of 100.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

I recruited participants using a flyer (see Appendix B) that was distributed to the rheumatology clinic, other physicians' offices, and the Facebook group Rheumatoid Arthritis Group. The recruitment flyer was distributed to the patients in the rheumatology clinic and other physicians' offices as they checked out from their office visit by the receptionist. The flyer was also posted within the physicians' offices on bulletin boards approved by the office managers. The flyer contained a link to the online survey, which included the consent form to participate. The recruitment flyer was also posted on the Facebook page for the Rheumatoid Arthritis Group with the embedded survey link. A screening question at the beginning of the survey asked if potential participants had previously completed the survey. The recruitment goal was a sample size of 100

participants. Walden University Institutional Review Board's approval number for this study was 04-26-22-0730978, with an expiration date of April 25, 2023.

I designed the online questionnaire using reliable and valid tools/scales, most especially the ASES, which was developed to measure a patient's belief/self-efficacy that they could manage daily activities despite possible pain (Brady, 2011; Lorig et al., 2004; Stanford Patient Education Research Center, n.d). Demographics, such as race, age, geographical location, education level, and marital status of participants, were collected using items from Section 8 of the 2020 BRFSS (CDC, 2021b). The SCBS was used to measure the dependent variable, self-management (Nadrian et al., 2019). In addition, items on RA from Section 7 of the 2019 BRFSS were included referring to possible patient health education received by the RA patient (CDC, 2019b). Additionally, questions from the ENAT were used to investigate patient health education received by the RA patient and/or the patient health education desired (Pérez et al., 2020). A copy of the questionnaire is included in Appendix A. The online survey was housed in SurveyMonkey. Potential participants were provided with a link to the survey via the recruitment flyer (see Appendix B). A screening question at the beginning of the survey asked if they had previously completed the survey.

In addition to descriptive analysis, I used a chi-square test to analyze the research data. SPSS software Version 28 was used for analysis. The data were collected via the survey with no personally identifiable information of the participants. The participants were involved with the study for the survey only. Follow-up with the participants, the physicians' offices, and Facebook group occurred through the sending of a brief summary of the results and social implications of the research.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

I used several instruments in the research study. These included the SCBS developed by Nadrian et al. (2019), the ASES developed by Lorig et al. (1989), the BRFSS developed by the CDC (2021b), and the ENAT developed by Ndosi et al. (2014). These scales were directly related to the variables in this research study. The independent variables were self-efficacy and patient health education. Self-management was the dependent variable. The survey was available online via the link provided to the participants and did not require any special requirements or tools. Instructions were provided to the participants, including the approximate time of 15 minutes to complete the survey.

Self-Care Behaviors Scale (SCBS)

The SCBS was developed by Nadrian et al. (2019) from an earlier version of a self-care behavior scale in 2011 that was invalidated with the concern that there was no valid and reliable instrument in the literature at that time, to assess self-care (self-management) among RA patients. Nadrian et al. (2019) conducted a 9-month study with 436 RA patients from a rheumatology clinic in Hamadan, Iran. A first draft was piloted with 30 questions to an expert panel and then a second draft to 41 RA patients with 25 questions. They performed Pearson's Correlation Coefficient, EFA, CFA, and Internal Consistency Reliability tests, and the level of significance was considered 0.05, a priori (Nadrian et al., 2019). The Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.7 or above was considered

to be acceptable (0.85 and 0.74) (Nadrian et al., 2019). This SCBS was appropriate for this study as it was found to have an appropriate level of reliability, validity, simplicity, and functionality, as well as being noted as the only valid and reliable scale free to use specifically for self-care of RA patients (Nadrian et al., 2019). To measure the dependent variable, self-management, I converted the scoring of the SCSB scale to three levels of self-care—80 and above (managing well), 50-79 (moderately managing), and 49 and below (poorly managing)—using the chi-square test in SPSS (see Nadrian et al., 2019). *Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale*

The ASES was the first arthritis-specific scale to be developed to measure selfefficacy (Brady, 2011). Lorig et al. (1989) developed the ASES after evaluating the completion of an Arthritis Self- Management Course (ASMC), and upon first evaluation found participants who took the ASMC experienced less pain than the control groups. However, upon further evaluation looking at behavior change concerning health status, it was discovered that half of the participants felt that they could make behavior changes to decrease pain and the other half felt they had no control over the pain or circumstances (Lorig et al., 1989). Lorig et al. (1989) realized that the concept of self-efficacy played a role in the success of the participants in the ASMC courses, therefore they sought to develop a valid and reliable scale to measure self-efficacy. The ASES was appropriate for this research study as it is still the most widely used arthritis self-efficacy scale and was originally designed to measure changes in SE after receiving patient health education (Brady, 2011). The ASES is free to use without permission and can be found on the Stanford Patient Education Research Center website (n.d). The ASES's longer version has 20 items, however, the 8-item shorter version was utilized in this study (Brady, 2011; Stanford Patient Education Research Center, n.d). The 8- item ASES is a Likert scale and is scored using a 1-10 range with a higher score correlating with higher self-efficacy (Brady, 2011; Stanford Patient Education Research Center, n.d). The ASES was analyzed using the chi-square test to investigate the association of the independent variable selfefficacy to the dependent variable self-management (SCBS scale), with a conversion of the scoring of the ASES scale to three levels: low self-efficacy (1, 2, 3, 4), moderate selfefficacy (5, 6), and high self-efficacy (7, 8, 9, 10). Wilcox et al. (2014) examined the psychometric properties of the eight-item English version of the ASES (ASES-8) with 401 participants who had been diagnosed with arthritis and concluded that the ASES was a valid and reliable research tool with an internal consistency which was high for measures of Cronbach's alpha (0.87 to 0.94).

Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) Questionnaire

During the 1980s scientists began realizing the impact health behaviors had on chronic disease prevalence, morbidity, and mortality (CDC, 2014). By 1993, the BRFSS became a nationwide telephone survey surveillance system (CDC, 2014). By 2011, cell phone surveys were included for people who did not have landlines available (CDC, 2014). In public health, the BRFSS remains the *gold standard* for data collection and occurs monthly in all 50 states (CDC, 2014). The BRFSS is available for free public use (CDC, 2014). In 2019, 418,268 non-institutionalized adult individuals ages 18 years of age and older were surveyed, and in 2020 over 400,000 participants were surveyed (CDC, 2020a). Questions from the 2019 BRFSS in the Core Section 7: Arthritis, such as; Have you (as written in BRFSS) (Ever told) (you had) ever been told that you have some form of arthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, gout, lupus, or fibromyalgia? And have you ever taken an educational course or class to teach you how to manage problems related to your arthritis or joint symptoms? (CDC, 2019b). Core section 8 of the 2020 BRFSS were used for demographic information, such as; Are you 18 years of age or older? Are you male or female? (CDC, 2021b). The BRFSS scale for age was converted from seven categories to two categories: 54 or younger and 55 and above-due to the limited sample size. The BRFSS scale for race was converted to three categories: White, Black or brown, and another race. The BRFSS scale for education level was converted to three categories: less than high school, high school, and college. Lastly, the BRFSS scale was converted into two categories: U.S. mainland and U.S. territory.

Educational Needs Assessment Tool (ENAT)

I received permission from the University of Leeds on October 27, 2021, to use the ENAT tool (see Appendix C). The ENAT was developed in the United Kingdom and was designed to measure the educational needs of rheumatic patients and contains 39 questions rated on a Likert scale from *not at all important to extremely important* (Ackerman, 2016; The University of Leeds, 2021). Scientists and researchers have begun to realize the importance of understanding a patient's health educational needs for a variety of reasons, including rising medical costs; but mostly due to the research supporting the fact that patients with RA need help coping with the many changes the body undergoes in this disease (Ndosi & Adebajo, 2015). Ndosi and Adebajo (2015) note that RA patients have a range of patient health educational needs which could be dependent on a multitude of factors, such as stage of the disease. Some RA patients may need patient health education on medication management, for example, and others may need patient health education on self-management and self-efficacy concepts of behaviors, attitudes, or perceptions- for these reasons, this tool was appropriate for this study (Ndosi & Adebajo, 2015). Ndosi et al. (2014) tested the validity of the ENAT in a large sample (3015) of European Rheumatic patients and found a high level of internal consistency (Person Separation Index above 0.90), validity, and reliability of the ENAT. Sung (2021) studied the validity of the ENAT and found that the *internal consistency was high (Cronbach's alpha, 0.92), and unidimensionality was confirmed (person separation index, 3.4; reliability index, 0.92/item separation index, 16.82; reliability index, 1.00).*

The ENAT has been translated into at least 9 languages with strong cross-cultural validation (Ackerman, 2016). Some examples of the questions that were included in the ENAT section are; how important is it for you to know more about the following: What might have caused your arthritis? Why am I taking medications? How might appliances help me (splints, adaptations, collars)? Ways to deal with stress? The ENAT was scored using descriptive statistics and scored as described by The University of Leeds (2021); with the scoring of each of the seven domains of patient health education into levels of importance: Not at all important/little importance and important.

Data Analysis Plan

This quantitative, non-experimental cross-sectional survey design study was conducted using a convenience sample of patients with RA from rheumatology clinics, other physician offices, and an RA Facebook group with 68,000 members. The selection criteria were 1) individuals who have been diagnosed with RA, 2) adults 18 years of age or older, 3) adults receiving current RA treatment, 4) English-speaking only, 5) Facebook participants must be a member of the RA Facebook group, and 6) must be a U.S. citizen. An a priori analysis was conducted using G*POWER to estimate the sample size for the number of participants for this research study. In G*POWER, the goodness-of-fit testcontingency tables were used for the Chi-Square test (X^2) with an effect size of 0.5, error probability of 0.05, with the power= 0.95. The G*POWER analysis revealed a minimum sample size of 80 for this study. Therefore, the student researcher had a goal to achieve a sample size of 100. The non-parametric chi-square test was used to test the association between self-efficacy and self-management as well as the association between patient health education and self-management. Descriptive statistics were used to identify the patient health education needs of RA patients. Data were analyzed using the SPSS Version 28 software.

The independent variables include self-efficacy, and patient health education received. The dependent variable was self-management. An online questionnaire was designed using reliable and valid tools/scales; the ASES-which was developed to measure a patient's belief/self-efficacy that they could manage daily activities despite possible pain (Brady, 2011; Lorig et al., 2004; Stanford Patient Education Research Center, n.d.). Demographics, such as race, age, and marital status of participants, were collected using items from Section 8 of the 2020 BRFSS (CDC, 2021b). The SCBS was used to measure the dependent variable, self-management, with a conversion of the scoring of the SCSB scale to 3 levels of self-care: 80 and above – Managing Well; 50-79

– Moderately Managing; 49 and below – Poorly Managing (Nadrian et al., 2019). In addition, items on RA from Section 7 of the 2019 BRFSS were included referring to possible patient health education received by the RA patient (CDC, 2019b). Additionally, questions from the ENAT were used to investigate patient health education received by the RA patient and/or the patient health education desired (Edworthy, Devins, & Watson, 1995). A copy of the questionnaire is included in Appendix A. The online survey was housed in SurveyMonkey.

Threats to Validity

This study was descriptive; the variables were not manipulated nor was their manipulation of the environment of the participants (Drummond & Murphy-Reyes, 2018). However, survey research can be weak in terms of validity as participants' answers may not fit into a category of strongly agree to strongly disagree (Babbie, 2015). Conversely, survey research can be strong in reliability with the elimination of researcher bias or inaccurate observations (Babbie, 2015). Another threat to validity would be a sample size too small or too large to make inferences about the population (Statistics Solutions, 2021). Recruitment was to continue until the target sample size of 100 was achieved.

Ethical Procedures

Ethical procedures were followed to ensure that the personally identifiable information) of participants was protected, scientific integrity was maintained, and the human rights of the participants were upheld. Patients were informed that their responses would not be linked to them. The risks to the participants were minimal and included in the informed consent at the beginning of the survey. The researcher did not have access to the participant's personally identifiable information or email addresses. The data will be stored on the researcher's computer that is password protected and destroyed after Walden University's required 5 years after the study. Only my committee chair, Walden University's Institutional Review Board, and I will have access to the data. Participants were able to opt out of the study at any point. The study was 100% voluntary. Participants were given my email address should they have any questions regarding the instructions for the survey or the content therein. The phone number for Walden University's research participant advocate was provided in the consent form.

Summary

This quantitative descriptive research study used a non-experimental crosssectional survey design with an online survey (see Appendix A). The independent variables of this study were self-efficacy and patient health education. Self-management was the dependent variable. The target sample size for this study was 100, with a minimum sample size of 80. The survey was created using a combination of instruments/tools; the BRFSS (2015, 2019 and 2020), the ASES, and the ENAT. Recruitment for this study was to continue until the desired sample size was obtained.

Chapter 4 reports the results of this study, the time frame for data collection, recruitment and response rates, and any discrepancies in the collection of data compared to the outlined plan in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 also includes the descriptive demographic data of the sample, any adverse events that occurred with data collection, and statistical data in graphic form.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the association between self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management among patients with RA. Knowledge gained from this study concerning RA patients, self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management could shed light on barriers that could impair patients' daily activities. Health educators could develop patient health education from the results of the study that could be used to increase RA patients' QoL. The independent variables of this study were self-efficacy and patient health education. Self-management was the dependent variable. The following were the RQs and hypotheses for this study.

RQ1: What is the association between self-efficacy and self-management?

 H_01 : There is no association between self-efficacy and self-management. RQ2: What is the association between patient health education and self-management?

 H_02 : There is no association between patient health education and selfmanagement.

RQ3: What patient health education do RA patients want or need?

 H_03 : RA patients do not need patient health education.

In Chapter 4, I will discuss data collection and present results and a summary of the answers to the RQs.

Data Collection

This quantitative descriptive research study featured a nonexperimental crosssectional survey design using nonprobability convenience sampling. I conducted this research using a convenience sample of patients with RA from rheumatology clinics and other physician offices as well as the Facebook group named Rheumatoid Arthritis Group. To be eligible, an individual needed to be (a) a person who had been diagnosed with RA, (b) an adult 18 years of age or older, (c) currently seeing a practitioner for RA, (d) English speaking, and (e) a U.S. citizen. I performed an a priori power analysis using G*Power Version 3.1 to determine the minimum sample size required. In G*Power, the goodness-of-fit test-contingency tables were used for the chi-square test with an effect size of 0.5, error probability of 0.05, power of 0.95. The G*Power analysis revealed that a minimum sample size of 80 was adequate for this study. A total sample size of 81 was achieved.

I recruited participants using a flyer (see Appendix B) that was distributed to the rheumatology clinic, other physicians' offices, and the Facebook group Rheumatoid Arthritis Group. The recruitment flyer was distributed to the patients in the rheumatology clinic and other physicians' offices as they checked out from their office visit by the receptionist. The flyer was also posted on a bulletin board in the physician's office. The flyer contained a link to the online survey. The survey was housed in SurveyMonkey and included the consent form to participate. The recruitment flyer was also posted on the Facebook page Rheumatoid Arthritis Group with the embedded survey link. A screening question at the beginning of the survey asked if the survey taker had previously

completed the survey. The survey took an average of 11 minutes to complete. I shared a follow-up summary of the data results with the participants, the physicians' offices, and the Facebook group.

I collected demographics, such as gender, race, age, geographical location, and education level of participants, using items from Section 8 of the 2020 BRFSS (CDC, 2021b). Items from Section 7 of the 2019 BRFSS (CDC, 2019b) were included referring to possible patient health education received by the RA patient. The descriptive analysis, and the non-parametric chi-square test used for the analysis of the data, were analyzed using the SPSS software Version 28. Data collection took place over 6 weeks with a response of 81 surveys. This response rate fell short of the 100 surveys that I was hoping for, but it was within the allowable minimum sample size.

The overall demographics showed that a majority of the population were White (92.6%) women (93.8%) who were college-educated (86.4%), over the age of 55 (67.9%), and lived on the U.S. mainland (98.8%). This survey was distributed to all U.S. citizens who were members of the Rheumatoid Arthritis Facebook page; therefore it was not limited to one geographical area or demographic group. This overall demographic finding correlates with research indicating that women may have more dominant predisposing factors that enhance their chances of having RA (Laivoranta-Nyman et al., 2001). The Johns Hopkins Arthritis Center (2021) also reported that for late onset of RA (over the age of 55), the population is predominantly women.

Results

Statistical Assumptions

This nonparametric chi-square test was the appropriate test to use as it fulfills the two statistical assumptions for the chi-square test: The variables are nominal or categorical and have two or more independent groups (Laerd Statistics, 2018). I calculated the sample size using G*Power analysis, which revealed that a minimum sample size of 80 was adequate for this study. I achieved a sample size of 81. The chi-square test was appropriate because I was investigating the association between categorical variables (see Laerd Statistics, 2018).

Descriptive Statistics

I collected demographics, such as gender, race, age, geographical location, and education level of participants, using items from Section 8 of the 2020 BRFSS (CDC, 2021b) as seen in Table 1. Most of the 81 participants were women (75; 92.6%). There were 76 participants who were White (95%). The majority of participants were over the age of 55 (68.8%). Eighty participants (100%) were citizens of the United States. The majority of participants were college-educated (86.4%). In addition, items on RA from Section 7 of the 2019 BRFSS were included referring to possible patient health education received by the RA patient (CDC, 2019b). The outcome of this descriptive analysis was insightful as it showed that 70 participants (86.4%) had never taken a patient education course or class to teach them how to manage their RA. Table 1 provides a summary of the demographic characteristics of the participants.

Table 1

Characteristic	n	0⁄0
Gender		
Male	6	7.4
Female	75	92.6
Total	81	100
Race		
White	76	95
Black/Brown	4	5
Total	81	100
Age		
54 or younger	25	31.3
55 and older	55	68.8
Total	81	100
U.S. residency		
U.S. mainland	80	100
Total	81	100
Education level		
Less than high school	3	3.7
High school	8	9.9
College	70	86.4
Total	81	100
Taken an educational course or class on how to		
manage arthritis		
Yes	11	13.6
No	70	86.4
Total	81	100

Descriptive Characteristics of Participants

I analyzed RQ3 (What patient health education do RA patients want or need?) using descriptive frequency tables and were run for each of the seven domains of the ENAT (managing pain, movement, feelings, arthritis, treatments, self-help, and support (see Table 2). ENAT Domain 1 indicated that 55 out of the 81 (67.9%) participants felt that patient health education about managing pain was important. ENAT Domain 2 indicated that 49 out of the 81 (60.5%) participants felt that patient health education about movement was important. ENAT Domain 3 indicated that 45 out of the 81 (55.6%) participants felt that patient health education about feelings was important. ENAT Domain 4 indicated that 50 out of the 81 (61.7%) participants felt that patient health education about arthritis was important. ENAT Domain 5 indicated that 46 out of the 81 (56.8%) participants felt that patient health education about treatments was important. ENAT Domain 6 indicated that 46 out of the 81 (56.8) participants felt that patient health education about self-help was important. ENAT Domain 7 indicated that 42 out of the 81 (51.9%) participants felt that patient health education about support was important. In all seven domains, more than half of the 81 participants indicated that patient health education was important to them. This finding contains important information for the researcher and the HCP that over half of the participants in this study felt they needed or wanted more patient health education. Table 2 is a frequency table of the seven domains of the ENAT.

Table 2

Frequencies of the Seven Domains of the ENAT

ENAT domain	n	%
Domain 1: Managing Pain		
Not of all/Little immediate	36	22.1
	20	52.1
Important	55	67.9
l otal	81	100
Domain 2: Movement	22	20.5
Not at all/Little importance	32	39.5
Important	49	60.5
Total	81	100
Domain 3: Feelings		
Not at all/Little importance	36	44.4
Important	45	55.6
Total	81	100
Domain 4: Arthritis		
Not at all/Little importance	31	38.3
Important	50	61.7
Total	81	100
Domain 5: Treatments		
Not at all/Little importance	35	43.2
Important	46	56.8
Total	81	100
Domain 6: Self-Help		
Not at all/Little importance	35	43.2
Important	46	56.8
Total	81	100
Domain 7: Support	01	100
Not at all/Little importance	39	48.1
Important	42	51.9
Total	81	100
10(4)	01	100

Note. ENAT = Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool.

Statistical Analysis for Chi-Square Test

I analyzed RQ1 (What is the association between self-efficacy and selfmanagement) using the chi-square test, which I performed in SPSS. The association between these variables was not significant, X^2 (2, n = 81) = 1.04, p = .594 (see Table 3). One cell did not have the expected count (3.78) and the Cramers V value (.113) showed a weak association. The test did not show statistical significance, therefore I failed to reject the null hypothesis which was: *There is no association between self-efficacy and selfmanagement*.

I also used SPSS to perform the chi-square test for RQ2 (What is the association between patient health education and self-management). To do this, patient education was divided up into the seven scoring sections/or domains for the ENAT scale: managing pain, movement, feelings, arthritis, treatment from health care providers, self-health/help measures, and support from others. Each of these domains was tested against the SCBS.

Domain 1 of the ENAT was managing pain. The Chi-Square results showed that all expected counts met the 5 or above count, with a Cramers V showing a weak association. The association between these variables was not statistically significant, X^2 (1, n = 81) = 2.215, p = .137. Therefore, I failed to reject the null hypothesis which was: *There is no association between patient health education and self-management (managing pain domain).*

Domain 2 of the ENAT was movement and the Chi-Square test showed that zero cells had the expected count of less than 5 with a Cramers V of .336-indicating a strong association. The association between these variables was statistically significant, X^2 (1, *n*

= 81) = 9.149, p = .002. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. Participants (60.5%) indicated that learning more about movement patient education was important to them.

Domain 3 of the ENAT was feelings and the Chi-Square test showed that zero cells had the expected count of less than 5 with a Cramers V of .246-indicating a moderate association. The association between these variables was statistically significant, X^2 (1, n = 81) = 4.907, p = .027. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. An important piece of data to look at in this analysis was that 68.9% of the participants that were poorly managing indicated that it was important to learn more about managing their feelings.

Domain 4 of the ENAT was arthritis and the Chi-Square test showed that zero cells had the expected count of less than 5 with a Cramers V of .102-indicating a weak association. The association between these variables was not statistically significant, X^2 (1, n = 81) = .848, p = .357. Therefore, I failed to reject the null hypothesis which was: There is no association between patient health education and self-management (arthritis).

Domain 5 of the ENAT was treatment options from their HCP, and the Chi-Square test showed that zero cells had the expected count of less than 5 with a Cramers V of .218-indicating a weak association. The association between these variables was statistically significant, X^2 (1, n = 81) = 3.835, p = .05. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. Participants (67.4%) that were poorly managing indicated a desire to learn more about treatment options from the HCP.

Domain 6 of the ENAT was self-help/health and the Chi-Square test showed that zero cells had the expected count of less than 5 with a Cramers V of .218-indicating a

weak association. The association between these variables was statistically significant, X^2 (1, n = 81) = .3.835, p = .05. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. The majority of the participants (56.8%) indicated that it was important to have patient health education around learning more about self-care/self-health.

Domain 7 of the ENAT was support and the Chi-Square test showed that zero cells had the expected count of less than 5 with a Cramers V of .182-indicating a weak association. The association between these variables was not statistically significant, X^2 (1, n = 81) = 2.675, p = .102 (see Table 3). Therefore, I failed to reject the null hypothesis which was: There is no association between patient health education and self-management (support). Interestingly, about half of the participants felt that support from others was not important or had little importance (48.1%) and half indicated that having support from others was important (51.9%).

Table 3

Domain (D no.)	Value	df	Cramers V	V Significance
ASES > SCBS	1.04	2	.113	.594
ENAT > SCBS-D1	2.21	1	.165	.137
ENAT > SCBS-D2	9.149	1	.336	.002
ENAT > SCBS-D3	4.907	1	.246	.027
ENAT > SCBS-D4	.848	1	.102	.357
ENAT > SCBS-D5	3.835	1	.218	.05
ENAT > SCBS-D6	3.835	1	.218	.05
ENAT > SCBS-D7	2.675	1	.182	.102

Chi-Square Test Results

Note. ASES = Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale; SCBS = Self-Care Behaviors Scale; ENAT =

Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to examine the association between self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management. No association was found between self-efficacy and self-management (p = .594). Four out of the seven ENAT domains (2, 3, 5, and 6: movement, feelings, treatments, self-help) were statistically significant. Frequency tables were run in SPSS for each of the seven domains of the ENAT (managing pain, movement, feelings, arthritis, treatments, self-help, and support). In the seven domains, more than half of the 81 participants indicated that patient health education was important to them. Chapter 5 reiterates the purpose of this study, interpretation of the study findings, limitations of the study, recommendations for future research, and the social implications.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the association between self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management among patients with RA. I conducted this nonexperimental cross-sectional survey design study using a convenience sample of patients with RA from a rheumatology clinic and an RA Facebook group with 68,000 members. To be eligible for the study, individuals had to be (a) person who had been diagnosed with RA, (b) an adult 18 years of age or older, (c) currently seeing a practitioner for RA, (d) English speaking, and (e) a U.S. citizen. The SCT was the theoretical framework (Glanz et al., 2015). The independent variables included selfefficacy and patient health education. The dependent variable was self-management. Knowledge gained from this study concerning RA patients' self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management could shed light on barriers that impair patients' daily activities. With this knowledge, health care professionals may be able to devise better patient education that has a positive impact on their HRQoL.

To summarize the findings, RQ1 (What is the association between self-efficacy and self-management?) was not found to be statistically significant. RQ2 (What is the association between patient health education and self-management?) was divided into seven scoring domains with a separate chi-square test run for each of these domains. Four out of the seven domains (2, 3, 5, and 6: movement, feelings, treatments, self-help) were statistically significant. To answer RQ3 (What patient health education do RA patients want or need?), I ran frequency tables for each of the seven domains of the ENAT (managing pain, movement, feelings, arthritis, treatments, self-help, and support. In all seven domains, more than half of the 81 participants indicated that patient health education was important to them. In Chapter 5, I will interpret the study findings, discuss the limitations of the study, offer recommendations for future research, and consider the study's implications for positive social change.

Interpretation of the Findings

Although previous researchers (Allegrante, 2018; CDC, 2019d; Dunet & Butterfoss, 2005; Flora et al., 2016; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2015) have studied education for patients with chronic conditions, there is scarce research regarding the relationship between self-efficacy, patient health education, and perception of self-management in RA patients.(Bearne et al., 2017; Beauvais et al., 2019; Denneson et al., 2019; Ndosi et al., 2016; Nessen et al., 2019; Samueli Foundation Integrative Health Programs, 2019; Senara et al., 2019; Thom et al., 2016). In this study, I addressed this gap by building on the historical research done on RA patients' self-efficacy and their ability to self-manage their disease state. Patient health education after diagnosis and baseline self-efficacy were the independent variables, and self-management was the dependent variable.

I collected demographics, such as gender, race, age, geographical location, and education level of participants, using items from Section 8 of the 2020 BRFSS (CDC, 2021b) as seen in Table 1 in Chapter 4. Of a total of 81 participants, 75 were women (92.6%), and 76 participants were White (95%). The majority of participants were over the age of 55 (68.8%). All participants were citizens of the United States. The majority of participants were college-educated (86.4%). In addition, items on RA from Section 7 of the 2019 BRFSS were included referring to possible patient health education received by the RA patient (CDC, 2019b). The outcome of this descriptive analysis was insightful as it showed that 70 participants (86.4%) had never taken a patient education course or class to teach them how to manage their RA. Table 1 provides a summary of the demographic characteristics of the participants.

Farley et al. (2019) conducted a study that examined patient health education and shared decision-making between the RA patient and practitioner. The study found that RA patient's desire tailored patient health education and that there is a gap in the literature about the type of patient health education to disseminate to RA patients for better patient outcomes. In the current study, RQ3 addressed this analysis and outcomes. The seven domains of the ENAT (managing pain, movement, feelings, arthritis, treatments, self-help, and support) were analyzed using descriptive statistics (see Table 2). Patient health education about managing pain (Domain 1) was the most important to the survey participants (67.9%). Patient health education about movement (Domain 2) was important to 60.5% of the participants. Domain 3 indicated that 55.6% of the participants felt that patient health education about feelings was important. Patient health education about arthritis (Domain 4) was important to 61.7% of the participants. Having options about treatments for RA patients was important to 56.8% (Domain 5) of the participants. Patient health education around self- help (Domain 6) was important to 56.8% of the survey participants. Last, having patient health education about support

(Domain 7) was important to 51.9% of the participants. In all seven domains, more than half of the 81 participants indicated that patient health education was important to them.

A majority of the population were White women who were college-educated and over the age of 55 and lived on the U.S. mainland. This survey was distributed to all U.S. citizens who were members of the Facebook page; therefore it was not limited to one geographical area or demographic group. This overall demographic finding correlates with research indicating that women may have more dominant predisposing factors that enhance their chances of having RA (Laivoranta-Nyman et al., 2001). Johns Hopkins Arthritis Center (2021) also reported that for late onset of RA (over the age of 55), the population is predominantly women.

Although RQ1 (What is the association between self-efficacy and selfmanagement?) was not statistically significant, it yielded insightful findings. The findings from the current study are consistent with findings in the reviewed literature and the context of the SCT. Gilkey and Garcia (2010) stated that to accomplish an effective increase in self-efficacy leading to self-management, one must access the current state of the patient's self-efficacy, and knowledge. This survey was completed without a baseline knowledge of the participant's level of self-efficacy before they were diagnosed with RA. Sessford et al. (2019) conducted a quasi-experimental study with 86 patients to investigate the impact that the SCT had on arthritis patients overcoming barriers by having a high level of self-efficacy. Patients with lower levels of self-efficacy had a greater perception of barriers to exercise adherence to improve their RA symptoms than those with a higher level of self-efficacy. Furthermore, Sessford et al. suggested that further research be conducted on assessing levels of self-efficacy in the RA patient early in the diagnosis to address potential barriers. The current study showed that only 11.1% of the surveyed participants had high self-efficacy, and four out of the seven ENAT domains (2, 3, 5, and 6: movement, feelings, treatments, self-help) were statistically significant; one was movement. The participant results showed that the four statistically significant domains were areas of greatest interest in patient education desired. In future studies, researchers could look directly at the association between self-efficacy and patient education.

Regarding the dependent variable, self-management, it is noted that barriers to successful self-management could involve cultural norms, lack of health literacy, lack of health care coverage, access to care, lack of education, and other SDOH (AHRQ, 2013). Initially, researchers' conceptualized self-management as providing general education/health information would improve self-management, but the AHRQ (2013) noted that this has not been shown to improve self-care. Self-efficacy levels, barriers, and educational needs assessment should be investigated to provide the most impactful increase in patient self-management (AHRQ, 2013). Further research could be conducted on baseline SDOH when assessing self-efficacy, self-management, and patient health education.

I divided RQ2 (What is the association between patient health education and selfmanagement?) into seven scoring domains with a separate chi-square test run for each of these domains. Four out of the seven domain (Domains 2, 3, 5, and 6: movement, feelings, treatments, self-help) were statistically significant. Interestingly, about half of
the participants felt that support from others was not important or had little importance (48.1%), and half indicated that having support from others was important (51.9%).

The findings from the current study are consistent with findings in the reviewed literature and the context of the SCT. The RA patient's behavioral capability (a construct of the SCT) can be influenced by not only the patient health education they receive but their understanding of how to apply that education in their day-to-day lives (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). Therefore, it is a logical conclusion that RA patients must not only have patient health education provided to them, but they also must understand how to apply that education to their daily lifestyle and feel confident that they can practice those learned behaviors (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). Beauvais et al. (2019) stated that patient health education is an essential part of an RA patient's ability to self-manage their disease; however, a gap in the literature exists on "which" knowledge/patient health education a patient may need. The current study addressed this gap in the literature by assessing which type of patient education a RA patient would want or need the most (as follows in RQ3).

To answer RQ3 (What patient health education do RA patients want/need?), I ran frequency tables for each of the seven domains of the ENAT (managing pain, movement, feelings, arthritis, treatments, self-help, and support). In all seven domains, more than half of the 81 participants indicated that patient health education was important to them (as shown in Table 2). Patient health education could be developed from the results of this study that could be used to increase RA patients' HRQoL. This current study revealed that all of the areas of the ENAT (patient health education) were important to the participants and practitioners could use these domains as a starting point for creating patient health education materials. The study's purpose was to examine the association between self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management and its results were more impactful on the need for patient health education and the type of education needed or wanted.

The findings from the current study are consistent with findings in the reviewed literature and the context of the SCT. Pérez et al. (2020) noted that past research has shown that non-directed educational efforts do not positively impact an RA patient's HRQoL and that practitioners should use a tool, such as the ENAT to assess patient health educational needs. The RA patient's behavioral capability (a construct of the SCT) can be influenced by not only the patient health education they receive but their understanding of how to apply that education in their day-to-day lives (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019). Therefore, it is a logical conclusion that RA patients must not only have patient health education to their daily lifestyle and feel confident that they can practice those learned behaviors (Boston University School of Public Health, 2019).

Limitations of the Study

The study had several limitations. When conducting this study, COVID-19 may have impacted the sample size taken from the RA clinics or other physician offices due to patients limiting their access to care during the pandemic. Patient recruitment and data collection may have been impacted by these circumstances and the COVID-19 restrictions at certain HCP offices. Another factor that may have impacted the sample size was that several practitioners would need to participate to get the desired sample size. The researcher was only able to procure one physician's office to participate, even with the invitation to 5 offices. This researcher was limited by participation requirements in joining the Facebook group and what was allowed to be posted. The sample size minimum was 80 participants with the hope of achieving a sample of 100 participants. The researcher conducted the study with 81 participants. Patients were informed that their responses would not be linked to them. Given the impact of COVID-19 and the potential issues with patient recruitment, this may have impacted the generalizability of the sample size to the overall RA population.

Another limitation was response bias in the form of social desirability. Respondents may have answered the questions the way they thought the researcher might have wanted them to answer instead of what is true. Finally, another limitation was that only those who had access to the internet or cell phone service were able to participate in the study. According to the Pew Research Center (2021), approximately 7% of the adult population in the U.S. does not use the internet. Individuals aged 65 and older report never using the internet or going online (Pew Research Center, 2021). Older individuals, men, African Americans, individuals with less than a high school education, individuals in lower-income levels, and rural residents are more likely to be among the non-internet user group (Pew Research Center, 2021). The large majority (86.4%) of the participants were college-educated, creating potential issues of generalizability.

Recommendations

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the association between self-efficacy, patient health education, and self-management. The independent variables were self-efficacy and patient health education wanted or needed. The dependent variable was self-management. Knowledge gained from this study concerning RA patients, selfefficacy, patient health education, and self-management, could shed light on barriers for the patients that could impair their daily activities and have a positive impact on their HRQoL. This study was able to show the lack of patient education the participants had received, and the low level of self-management and self-efficacy the participants experienced. However, as suggested by Dr. Lorig; she felt there was a gap in policy implementation to institute the education of health education students, physicians, and nurses on how to educate the patient (Gilkey & Garcia, 2010). Gilkey and Garcia (2010) state that to accomplish an effective increase in self-efficacy leading to self-management, one must access the current state of the patient's self-efficacy, and knowledge.

This researcher recommends that further research be conducted on medical students' level of knowledge of patient health education strategies and/or medical school courses involving patient health education. Vijn et al. (2017) conducted a literature review from 1990 to 2015 on medical students' and pre-medical students' education on patient-centered outcomes and patient health education. Vijn et al. (2017) note that no reviews on this subject have been done up to that point. The conclusion of the study by Vijn et al. (2017) was that educating medical students on patient health education and

patient outcomes can potentially have a positive impact on the quality of care patients are receiving.

It is also recommended that more research be conducted on other SDOH that could be barriers to self-management as found in the research from the U.S. Department of HHS (2013). It is noted that barriers to successful self-management could involve cultural norms, lack of health literacy, lack of health care coverage, access to care, lack of education, and other SDOH (AHRQ, 2013). I also recommend that further research could look directly at the association between self-efficacy and patient education. Since the majority of the participants of this study were white women and college educated, future studies could look at different demographics, such as people of color, men, and individuals with lower education levels. The survey was lengthy, and health literacy could have been an influence in who participated. Perhaps a study using each of the scales individually would bring higher participation rates.

Implications

Positive social change was the drive behind this study. During the process of this dissertation, I was the caregiver of my father, my mother, and my sister-who all passed away during the time I have been a student at this University. I am also a health educator working one on one with clients in a corporation on their health goals, concerns, and strategies. Between my trips to cancer centers, doctor's offices, and listening to my clients-it became clear to me that patients are not being educated by their physicians. This could be for many known reasons-1) doctors have limited time with their patients and this may not allow sufficient time for education 2) doctors may not be trained to educate their

patients 3) doctors may not be comfortable with the education of their patients.

Nevertheless, patients can exit a doctor's office feeling scared, fearful, and uncertain about how to self-manage their disease or condition. The concept of making a difference and taking action for positive social change became my passion. I was excited to create this survey, and interact with physicians and Facebook members about RA. I was excited to see what story the data would tell. The data spoke to my passion-more patient health education needs to be done for patients to feel confident to self-manage their RA. As stated previously, my hope is that policy change would occur at the medical school level so that medical students would be allowed to gain knowledge about how to educate their patients. Additionally, I am passionate about the American Medical Association (AMA) creating a category I CPT code that health insurance companies will accept for health educators to be able to submit patient claims for health education sessions. Research, such as this study, will need to be done to support these requests and I am proud to now be a scholar-practitioner that can aid in this positive social change.

Conclusion

As a scholar-practitioner at Walden University, I desire to fulfill Walden's mission to *promote the worth, dignity, and development of individuals, communities, organizations, institutions, cultures, and societies.* This current study is a small step on the road to helping people in our society feel more in control of their bodies and how to manage not only RA but other chronic diseases. There is no reason patients should ever be fearful that they don't understand things like; their medications, why are they taking them, what can they do to improve their pain, and their social support or treatment

options. I want to help individual's live better lives. This will impact our society as a whole, as it could lower health care costs and the economic burden on society. Practically speaking, individuals with RA or any chronic condition, who were given patient health education could lead more confident lives and feel more in control to self-manage their disease and have a better HRQoL.

References

Ackerman, I. (2016). Educational Needs Assessment Tool. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 62(1), 228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2016.04.002</u>

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2013). Practice facilitation handbook

Module 21: Improving Self-Management Support. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/ncepcr/tools/pf-handbook/mod21.html</u>

Allegrante, J. P. (2018). Advancing the science of behavioral self-management of chronic disease: The arc of a research trajectory. *Health Education & Behavior*, 45(1), 6–

13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198117749010</u>

American Psychological Association. (2020). Teaching tip sheet: Self-efficacy.

https://www.apa.org/pi/aids/resources/education/self-

efficacy#:~:text=Self%2Defficacy%20refers%20to%20an,%2C%20behavior%2C

%20and%20social%20environment

Arthritis Foundation. (n.d.). *Goals are good!* <u>https://www.arthritis.org/health-</u> wellness/treatment/treatment-plan/set-goals/goals-are-good

- Arthritis Foundation. (2019). Arthritis by the numbers: Book of trusted facts & figures (v3, No. 4100.17.10445). <u>https://www.arthritis.org/getmedia/e1256607-fa87-</u> 4593-aa8a-8db4f291072a/2019-abtn-final-march-2019.pdf
- Babbie, E. (2015). *The basics of social research* (7th ed.). Cengage Learning Custom Publishing.
- Bearne, L. M., Manning, V. L., Choy, E., Scott, D. L., & Hurley, M. V. (2017).
 Participants' experiences of an Education, self-management, and upper extremity

eXercise Training for people with Rheumatoid Arthritis programme

(EXTRA). *Physiotherapy*, *103*(4), 430–438.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2016.12.002

Beauvais, C., Rodère, M., Pereira, B., Legoupil, N., Piperno, M., Pallot Prades, B.,
Castaing, P., Wendling, D., Grange, L., Costantino, F., Carton, L., Soubrier, M.,
Coquerelle, P., Pham, T., Poivret, D., Cohen, J.-D., Tavares, I., Nataf, H.,
Pouplin, S., ... Gossec, L. (2019). Essential knowledge for patients with
rheumatoid arthritis or spondyloarthritis: Results of a multicentric survey in
France among health professionals and patients. *Joint Bone Spine*, *86*(6), 747–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbspin.2019.06.006

Beniamin Szmelcer, Weronika Topka, Patrycja Wszelaki, Michał Wilczyński, Mateusz
Porada, Aleksander Florczak, Mateusz Modrzejewski, Mariusz Wąsicki, Oktawia
Wysocka, Karolina Cięszka, Dorota Szewczak, Agnieszka Kujawska, & Kornelia
Kędziora-Kornatowska. (2019). A holistic approach to the problem of rheumatoid
arthritis in geriatric patients. *Journal of Education, Health, and Sport*, 9(9), 80–
89. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3384317

Boston University School of Public Health. (2019). *The social cognitive theory*. <u>https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mph-</u>

modules/sb/behavioralchangetheories/behavioralchangetheories5.html

Brady, T. J. (2011). Measures of self-efficacy: Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (ASES), Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale-8 Item (ASES-8), Children's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (CASE), Chronic Disease Self-Efficacy Scale (CDSES), Parent's Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (PASE), and Rheumatoid Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale (RASE). *Arthritis Care & Research*, *63*(Suppl. 11), S473–S485. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20567

- Burghardt, R.-D., Kazim, M. A., Rüther, W., Niemeier, A., & Strahl, A. (2019). The impact of physical activity on serum levels of inflammatory markers in rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic literature review. *Rheumatology International*, 39(5), 793–804. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-019-04284-x</u>
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (Eds.). (2016). *The scholar*practitioner's guide to research design. Laureate Publishing.
- Carter, J., Hassan, S., & Walton, A. (2022). Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Primary Care Patients Without COVID-19 Infections During the Pandemic: Observations From a Community Health Worker Lens. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/21501319211067669</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). *About the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/about/about_brfss.htm</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *State public health approaches to addressing arthritis* (Publication No. CDC-RFA-DP18-1803).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019a). Arthritis-Co-morbidities. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/arthritis/data_statistics/comorbidities.htm</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019b). Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/questionnaires/pdf-ques/2019-</u> <u>BRFSS-Questionnaire-508.pdf</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019c). Physical Activity Programs.

https://www.cdc.gov/arthritis/interventions/physical-activity.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019d). Self-Management education (SME) programs for chronic health conditions.

https://www.cdc.gov/learnmorefeelbetter/programs/index.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020a). 2019 BRFSS Survey Data and Documentation. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/annual_2019.html</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020b). Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA). https://www.cdc.gov/arthritis/basics/rheumatoid-arthritis.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020c). Self-Management Support and Education. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/pubs/guides/best-practices/self-</u> <u>management.htm</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a). About Chronic Diseases.

https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/about/index.htm

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b). Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/questionnaires/index.htm</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021c). Health-Related Quality of Life

(HRQoL). https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/index.htm

Center for Excellence in Primary Care. (2014). The 10 building blocks of primary care: Health coaching in primary care – Intervention protocol. https://cepc.ucsf.edu/sites/cepc.ucsf.edu/files/Health Coaching Protocol 14-

0603.pdf

Claassen, A., van den Ende, C., Meesters, J., Pellegrom, S., Kaarls-Ohms, B. M., Vooijs,

J., Willemsen-de Mey, G., & Vliet Vlieland, T. (2018). How to best distribute written patient education materials among patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized comparison of two strategies. *BMC health services research*, *18*(1),

211. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3039-4

- Coskun Benlidayi, I. (2018). Sleep impairment: an obstacle to achieve optimal quality of life in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology International*, *38*(12), 2183–2192. https://doi-org/10.1007/s00296-018-4155-5
- de Almeida Ribeiro Fernandes da Rocha, A. I., Ferreira dos Santos, E. J., Lopes Mota, M. A., Cunha, M., & Pereira Henriques, M. A. (2020). Effectiveness of telemedicine interventions in the impact of rheumatoid arthritis: an umbrella review protocol. *Revista de Enfermagem Referência*, 1, 1–5. <u>https://doi-org/10.12707/RIV19097</u>
- Demmelmaier, I., & Iversen, M. D. (2018). How Are Behavioral Theories Used in Interventions to Promote Physical Activity in Rheumatoid Arthritis? A Systematic Review. Arthritis Care & Research, 70(2), 185–196. <u>https://doi-</u> /10.1002/_____22265

org/10.1002/acr.23265

Denneson, L. M., Ono, S. S., Trevino, A. Y., Kenyon, E., & Dobscha, S. K. (2020). The applicability of self-determination theory to health coaching: a qualitative analysis of patient experiences. *Coaching: An International Journal of Theory, Research & Practice*, *13*(2), 163–175. <u>https://doi-org/10.1080/17521882.2019.1673457</u>

Dineen-Griffin, S., Garcia-Cardenas, V., Williams, K., & Benrimoj, S. I. (2019). Helping patients help themselves: A systematic review of self-management support strategies in primary health care practice. *PloS one*, *14*(8), e0220116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220116</u>

Drummond, K. E., & Murphy-Reyes, A. (2018). Quantitative Research Designs:
Experimental, Quasi-Experimental, and Descriptive. In Drummond, K. E., &
Murphy-Reyes, A. (Eds.), *Nutrition Research: Concepts and Applications* (pp. 171-176). Jones & Bartlett LLC.

- Dunet, D. O., & Butterfoss, F. D. (2005). State Plan Index: a tool for assessing the quality of state public health plans. *Preventing chronic disease*, *2*(2), A15.
- Edworthy, S. M., Devins, G. M., & Watson, M. M. (1995). The arthritis knowledge questionnaire. A test for measuring patient knowledge of arthritis and its self-management. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, *38*(5), 590–600.

https://doi.org/10.1002/art.1780380503

- Farley, S., Libman, B., Edwards, M., Possidente, C. J., & Kennedy, A. G. (2019). Nurse telephone education for promoting a treat-to-target approach in recently diagnosed rheumatoid arthritis patients: A pilot project. *Musculoskeletal Care*, 17(1), 156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.1376</u>
- Fertelli, T. K. (2020). Effects of education about Rheumatoid Arthritis and sexuality on the sexual problems of women with Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Clinical Nursing Research*, 29(3), 189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1054773819858493</u>

Fleischmann, R. (2020). Optimizing clinical and economic outcomes in the management of moderate-to-severe Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Journal of Managed Care Medicine*, *23*(1), 38.

Flora, P. K., Brawley, L. R., Sessford, J. D., Cary, M. A., & Gyurcsik, N. C. (2016). Predicting planned physical activity of individuals with arthritis: A self-regulatory perspective. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 21(11), 2684–2694. <u>https://doiorg/10.1177/1359105315583370</u>

Forsyth, C., Kouvari, M., D'Cunha, N. M., Georgousopoulou, E. N., Panagiotakos, D. B., Mellor, D. D., Kellett, J., & Naumovski, N. (2018). The effects of the Mediterranean diet on rheumatoid arthritis prevention and treatment: a systematic review of human prospective studies. *Rheumatology International*, 38(5), 737– 747. <u>https://doi-org/10.1007/s00296-017-3912-1</u>

Fraenkel, L., Bathon, J.M., England, B.R., St.Clair, E.W., Arayssi, T., Carandang, K.,
Deane, K.D., Genovese, M., Huston, K.K., Kerr, G., Kremer, J., Nakamura, M.C.,
Russell, L.A., Singh, J.A., Smith, B.J., Sparks, J.A., Venkatachalam, S.,
Weinblatt, M.E., Al-Gibbawi, M., Baker, J.F., Barbour, K.E., Barton, J.L.,
Cappelli, L., Chamseddine, F., George, M., Johnson, S.R., Kahale, L., Karam,
B.S., Khamis, A.M., Navarro-Millán, I., Mirza, R., Schwab, P., Singh, N.,
Turgunbaev, M., Turner, A.S., Yaacoub, S. and Akl, E.A. (2021), 2021 American
College of Rheumatology Guideline for the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis Care Res*, (73), 924-939. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.24596

- Garnett, A., Ploeg, J., Markle-Reid, M., & Strachan, P. H. (2018). Self-Management of Multiple Chronic Conditions by Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Concept Analysis. SAGE Open Nursing, 4, 2377960817752471. <u>https://doiorg/10.1177/2377960817752471</u>
- Gilkey, M., & Garcia, C. (2010). What do you think of when you think of patient education? An interview with Kate Lorig. *Health Promotion Practice*, 11(2), 169–172. <u>https://doi-org/10.1177/1524839909359150</u>
- Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Viswanath, K. (Eds.). (2015). *Health behavior: Theory, research, and practice* (5th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Grady, P. A., & Gough, L. L. (2014). Self-management: a comprehensive approach to management of chronic conditions. *American journal of public health*, 104(8), e25–e31. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2014.302041</u>
- Griffiths, A. J., White, C. M., Thain, P. K., & Bearne, L. M. (2018). The effect of interactive digital interventions on physical activity in people with inflammatory arthritis: a systematic review. *Rheumatology International*, 38(9), 1623–1634. <u>https://doi-org/10.1007/s00296-018-4010-8</u>
- Grim, M., & Hortz, B. (2017). In Fertman, C., & Allensworth, D. (Eds.), Health promotion programs: From theory to practice (2nd ed.) (pp. 55-61). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass
- Gwinnutt, J. M., Verstappen, S. M., & Humphreys, J. H. (2020). The impact of lifestyle behaviours, physical activity and smoking on morbidity and mortality in patients

with rheumatoid arthritis. Best Practice & Research Clinical

Rheumatology, 34(2). https://doi-org/10.1016/j.berh.2020.101562

- Hagen, K. B., Byfuglien, M. G., Falzon, L., Olsen, S. U., Smedslund, G., & Hagen, K. B.
 (2020). Dietary interventions for rheumatoid arthritis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 1.
- Holman, H., & Lorig, K. (2004). Patient self-management: a key to effectiveness and efficiency in care of chronic disease. *Public health reports (Washington, D.C.:* 1974), 119(3), 239–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phr.2004.04.002</u>
- ICT&health. (2017). Digital coaching increases health, medical adherence RA patients. https://www.ictandhealth.com/news/digital-coaching-increases-health-medicaladherence-ra-patients/
- Jackson T, Xu T, Jia X. (2020). Arthritis self-efficacy beliefs and functioning among osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis patients: a meta-analytic review. *Rheumatology (Oxford), 59*(5). <u>http://doi.org/10.1093/rheumatology/kez219.</u>
 PMID: 31211379.
- Jager, J., Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2017). II. More Than Just Convenient: The Scientific Merits of Homogeneous Convenience Samples. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 82(2), 13–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12296

Johns Hopkins Arthritis Center. (2021). Rheumatoid Arthritis Treatment. https://www.hopkinsarthritis.org/arthritis-info/rheumatoid-arthritis/ra-treatment/

- Joseph, R. P., Ainsworth, B. E., Mathis, L., Hooker, S. P., & Keller, C. (2017). Utility of Social Cognitive Theory in Intervention Design for Promoting Physical Activity among African-American Women: A Qualitative Study. *American journal of health behavior*, 41(5), 518–533. <u>https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.41.5.1</u>
- Küçükdeveci, A. A. (2019). Nonpharmacological treatment in established rheumatoid arthritis. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology, 33(5). <u>https://doiorg/10.1016/j.berh.2019.101482</u>
- Laerd Dissertation. (2012). Convenience Sampling. https://dissertation.laerd.com/convenience-sampling.php
- Laerd Statistics. (2018). Chi-Square Test for Association using SPSS Statistics. https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/chi-square-test-for-association-usingspss-statistics.php
- Laivoranta-Nyman, S., Luukkainen, R., Hakala, M., Hannonen, P., Möttönen, T., Yli-Kerttula, U., Ilonen, J., & Toivanen, A. (2001). Differences between female and male patients with familial rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 60(4), 413–415.
- Lavrakas, P. J. (2008). *Encyclopedia of survey research methods* (Vols. 1-0). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/978141296394</u>
- Lineker, S. C., Fleet, L. J., Bell, M. J., Sweezie, R., Curran, V., Brock, G., & Badley, E.M. (2019). Getting a Grip on Arthritis Online: Responses of rural/remote primary care providers to a web-based continuing medical education

programme. *Canadian Journal of Rural Medicine (Wolters Kluwer India Pvt Ltd)*, 24(2), 52. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/CJRM.CJRM_10_18</u>

- Lööf, H., & Johansson, U.-B. (2019). "A body in transformation"-An empirical phenomenological study about fear-avoidance beliefs towards physical activity among persons experiencing moderate-to-severe rheumatic pain. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 28(1–2), 321–329. <u>https://doi-org/10.1111/jocn.14606</u>
- Lorig, K., Chastain, R. L., Ung, E., Shoor, S., Holman, H. R., Franks, H. M., Cronan, T. A., & Oliver, K. (2004). Arthritis Self-Efficacy Scale. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 32(4), 425–438.
- Lorig, K., Chastain, R. L., Ung, E., Shoor, S., & Holman, H. R. (1989). Development and evaluation of a scale to measure perceived self-efficacy in people with arthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 32(1), 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/anr.1780320107
- Mayo Clinic. (2021). Rheumatoid Arthritis. https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/rheumatoid-arthritis/symptoms-causes/syc-20353648McMahon, M. A. (2019). Implementing newer therapies to improve economic and clinical outcomes in patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Journal of Managed Care Medicine*, 22(4), 44.
- Michalik, A., & Spratek, M. (2018). Quality of life from the perspective of physical functioning in patients with rheumatoid arthritis - preliminary report. *Journal of Education, Health and Sport, 8*(8), 369–380. <u>https://doiorg/10.5281/zenodo.1315185</u>

Miller, W. R., Lasiter, S., Bartlett Ellis, R., & Buelow, J. M. (2015). Chronic disease selfmanagement: a hybrid concept analysis. *Nursing outlook*, 63(2), 154–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2014.07.005</u>

Mobius MD. (2019). Are doctors spending less time with patients?

https://mobius.md/2019/09/23/how-much-time-do-physicians-spend-withpatients/

- Nadrian, H., Hosseini Niaz, Y., Basiri, Z., & Tahamoli Roudsari, A. (2019).
 Development and psychometric properties of a self-care behaviors scale (SCBS) among patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *BMC rheumatology*, *3*, 4.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s41927-019-0069-4
- Naqvi, A. A., Hassali, M. A., Aftab, M. T., Naqvi, S., Zehra, F., Ahmad, R., & Ahmad, N. (2017). Development of Evidence-Based Disease Education Literature for Pakistani Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. *Diseases (Basel, Switzerland)*, 5(4), 27. https://doi.org/10.3390/diseases5040027
- National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences. (2021). Autoimmune Diseases. https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/topics/conditions/autoimmune/index.cfm
- Ndosi, M., & Adebajo, A. (2015). Patient education in rheumatoid arthritis: is the needsbased approach the way forward? *Clinical Rheumatology*, *34*(11), 1827–1829. https://doi-org/10.1007/s10067-015-3063-2
- Ndosi, M., Bremander, A., Hamnes, B., Horton, M., Kukkurainen, M. L., Machado, P., Marques, A., Meesters, J., Stamm, T. A., Tennant, A., de la Torre-Aboki, J., Vliet Vlieland, T. P., Zangi, H. A., & Hill, J. (2014). Validation of the educational

needs assessment tool as a generic instrument for rheumatic diseases in seven European countries. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 73(12), 2122–2129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203461</u>

Ndosi, M., Johnson, D., Young, T., Hardware, B., Hill, J., Hale, C., Maxwell, J.,
Roussou, E., & Adebajo, A. (2016). Effects of needs-based patient education on self-efficacy and health outcomes in people with rheumatoid arthritis: a multicentre, single blind, randomised controlled trial. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 6, 1126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-207171</u>

- Nessen, T., Opava, C. H., & Demmelmaier, I. (2018). Physiotherapists' adoption of a theory-based skills training program in guiding people with Rheumatoid Arthritis to health-enhancing physical activity. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 25(4), 438–447. <u>https://doi-org/10.1007/s12529-018-9716-1</u>
- Obrzud, M., & Gronek, A. (2018). Evaluation of everyday routine changes caused by rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Differences between genders. *Journal of Education, Health and Sport*, 8(4), 451–469. <u>https://doi-org/10.5281/zenodo.1250292</u>
- Paterick, T. E., Patel, N., Tajik, A. J., & Chandrasekaran, K. (2017). Improving health outcomes through patient education and partnerships with patients. *Proceedings* (*Baylor University. Medical Center*), 30(1), 112–113. https://doi.org/10.1080/08998280.2017.11929552

Pellisé, F., Sell, P., & EuroSpine Patient Line Task Force (2009). Patient information and education with modern media: the Spine Society of Europe Patient
Line. *European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society,*

the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society, 18 Suppl 3(Suppl 3), 395–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-009-0973-1

Pérez, S., Santa Cruz, M., Sosa, J., Kohan, P., Medina, M., Klajn, D., Papasidero, S.,
Caracciolo, J., Pendón, G., Giordano, F., Pereira, D., Alvarez, D., Astudillo, V.,
Kerzberg, E., Perez Dávila, A., Bohr, A., Melo, F., Lloves, N., Mamani, M., ...
Maldonado Ficco, H. (2020). Evaluation of the educational needs in Argentine
patients with rheumatoid arthritis using the SpENAT questionnaire. *Reumatología Clínica (English Edition)*, *16*(5), 386–390. <u>https://doi-</u>
org/10.1016/j.reumae.2018.09.014

Petrovská, N., Prajzlerová, K., Vencovský, J., Šenolt, L., & Filková, M. (2021). The preclinical phase of rheumatoid arthritis: From risk factors to prevention of arthritis. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 20(5). <u>https://doi-</u>

org/10.1016/j.autrev.2021.1027977

- Pew Research Center. (2021). 7% of Americans don't use the internet. Who are they? <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/04/02/7-of-americans-dont-use-the-internet-who-are-they/</u>
- Pot-Vaucel, M., Aubert, M.-P., Guillot, P., Glémarec, J., Berthelot, J.-M., Le Goff, B., & Maugars, Y. (2016). Randomised study versus control group of customised therapeutic education for patients in follow-up for rheumatoid arthritis. *Joint Bone Spine*, 83(2), 199–206. https://doi-org/10.1016/j.jbspin.2015.05.017

Rodrigues, J. R., Faria, D. S., Neves, J. S., Silva, J., Peixoto, D., Alcino, S., Afonso, M.
C., Teixeira, F., Afonso, R. M., Pereira, H., Azevedo, S., & Costa, J. T. (2019).
Positive affect as a predictor of adherence in patients with Rheumatoid
Arthritis. *Acta Reumatologica Portuguesa*, 44(2), 132–137.

Roy, N., Tanner, K. M., Merrill, R. M., Wright, C., Pierce, J. L., & Miller, K. L. (2018).
 Epidemiology of Swallowing Disorders in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Prevalence, Risk
 Factors, and Quality of Life Burden. *The Annals of otology, rhinology, and laryngology*, *127*(9), 577–587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0003489418780136</u>

Samiei Siboni, F., Alimoradi, Z., Atashi, V., Alipour, M., & Khatooni, M. (2019).
Quality of Life in Different Chronic Diseases and Its Related
Factors. *International journal of preventive medicine*, 10, 65.
https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpvm.IJPVM 429 17

Samueli Foundation Integrative Health Programs. (2019). Health coaching case study: Empowering patients with chronic diseases to live healthier through health coaching-Integrative primary care case study. Retrieved from https://drwaynejonas.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/CS-HealthCoaching FINAL web.pdf

Senara, S., Wahed, W., & Mabrouk, S. (2019). Importance of patient education in management of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: an intervention study. *Egyptian Rheumatology and Rehabilitation*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.4103/err.err 31 18

Sessford, J. D., Brawley, L. R., Cary, M. A., Flora, P. K., Blouin, J. E., Strachan, S. M.,& Gyurcsik, N. C. (2019). Facing Multiple Barriers to Exercise: Does Stronger

Efficacy Help Individuals with Arthritis? *Applied Psychology. Health and Well-Being*, 11(1), 59–79. <u>https://doi-org/10.1111/aphw.12144</u>

- Shamizadeh, T., Jahangiry, L., Sarbakhsh, P., & Ponnet, K. (2019). Social cognitive theory-based intervention to promote physical activity among prediabetic rural people: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, 20(1), 98. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-019-3220-z
- Smith, G., Williams, L., O'Donnell, C., & McKechnie, J. (2019). A series of n-of-1 studies examining the interrelationships between social cognitive theory constructs and physical activity behaviour within individuals. *Psychology & Health*, 34(3), 255–270. <u>https://doi-org/10.1080/08870446.2018.1500576</u>
- Soha H Senara, Wafaa Y Abdel Wahed, & Shimaa E Mabrouk. (2019). Importance of patient education in management of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: an intervention study. *Egyptian Rheumatology and Rehabilitation*, 46(1), 42–47. <u>https://doi-org/10.4103/err.err 31 18</u>
- Sparks, J. (n.d.). *Rheumatoid arthritis: Can knowing your risk prompt better health habits?* Brigham and Women's Hospital.

https://brighamhealthhub.org/prevention/rheumatoid-arthritis-can-knowing-yourrisk-prompt-better-health-habits

Stanford Patient Education Research Center. (n.d). Arthritis Self-Efficacy.

https://www.ser.es/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ASES_english.pdf

Statistics Solutions. (2021). Validity. https://www.statisticssolutions.com/validity/

- Sung, Y. K., Kim, H., Cha, S. J., Kim, S. H., Ndosi, M., & Cho, S. K. (2021). Developing the Korean Educational Needs Assessment Tool (Korean ENAT) in rheumatoid arthritis: cross-cultural validation using Rasch analysis. *The Korean journal of internal medicine*, 36(4), 1014–1022. <u>https://doi.org/10.3904/kjim.2019.422</u>
- Taibanguay N, Chaiamnuay S, Asavatanabodee P, & Narongroeknawin P. (2019). Effect of patient education on medication adherence of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized controlled trial. *Patient Preference and Adherence, ume* 13, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S192008
- Taylor P. C. (2020). Update on the diagnosis and management of early rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical medicine (London, England)*, 20(6), 561–564. <u>https://www.rcpjournals.org/content/clinmedicine/20/6/561</u>
- The University of Leeds. (2021). ENAT The Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool. <u>https://licensing.leeds.ac.uk/product/enat---the-arthritis-educational-needs-assessment-tool</u>
- Thom, D. H., Wolf, J., Gardner, H., DeVore, D., Lin, M., Ma, A., Ibarra-Castro, A., & Saba, G. (2016). A qualitative study of how health coaches support patients in making health-related decisions and behavioral changes. *Annals of family medicine*, 14(6), 509–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1988</u>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2015, June). Multiple chronic conditions: A framework for education and training.
 https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/ash/initiatives/mcc/education-and-training/framework-curriculum/framework-curriculum.pdf

Van de Velde, D., De Zutter, F., Satink, T., Costa, U., Janquart, S., Senn, D., & De Vriendt, P. (2019). Delineating the concept of self-management in chronic conditions: a concept analysis. *BMJ Open*, 9(7), e027775. <u>https://doiorg/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027775</u>

Van Horn, D. H. A., Wenzel, A., & Britton, P. C. (2021). Motivational interviewing. In A. Wenzel (Ed.), *Handbook of cognitive behavioral therapy: Overview and approaches, Vol. 1.* (pp. 313–347). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi-org/10.1037/0000218-011</u>

- Vijn TW, Fluit CRMG, Kremer JAM, Beune T, Faber MJ, Wollersheim H. Involving Medical Students in Providing Patient Education for Real Patients: A Scoping Review. J Gen Intern Med. 2017; 32(9):1031-1043. <u>https://doiorg/10.1007/s11606-017-4065-3</u>
- Wang, J., Yang, Z., Zheng, Y., Peng, Y., Wang, Q., Xia, H., Wang, Y., Ding, J., Zhu, P., Shang, L., & Zheng, Z. (2021). Effects of illness perceptions on health-related quality of life in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in China. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 19(1), 126. <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1186/s12955-</u> 021-01770-4.pdf
- Wilcox, S., Schoffman, D. E., Dowda, M., & Sharpe, P. A. (2014). Psychometric properties of the 8-item english arthritis self-efficacy scale in a diverse sample. *Arthritis*, 2014, 385256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/385256</u>
- World Health Organization. (2022). United States of America Situation.

https://covid19.who.int/region/amro/country/us

Appendix A: Rheumatoid Arthritis Survey

You are invited to take part in this survey about Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA). The researcher is inviting people to participate in this survey if you are 1) A person who has been diagnosed with RA, 2) An adult 18 years of age or older, 3) Currently seeing a practitioner for RA, 4) English speaking, 5) A U.S. citizen.

The purpose of this survey is to understand Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) patients' level of confidence (self-efficacy) and patient health education to self-manage their RA symptoms and daily living activities.

If you meet these criteria, you may take part in this one-time online survey that will take approximately 20-30 minutes to complete. Your personal identity is not available to the researcher and all information is kept confidential.

If you feel you understand the study well enough and want to participate, please CLICK AGREE on the survey.

- 1. I agree to participate in this survey
 - o Agree
 - o Disagree

2. I will only take this survey one time

- o Agree
- o Disagree

3. In what state or U.S. territory do you live?

4. Are you 18 years of age or older?

- o Yes
- o No

5. What is your age?

Under 18 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65+

6. Are you male or female?

- o Male
- o Female

7. What is the highest level of education you have completed?

8. Has your Health Care Provider diagnosed you with Rheumatoid Arthritis?

- o Yes
- o No

9. Which one or more of the following would you say is your race?

- White or Caucasian
- Black or African American
- o Hispanic or Latino
- Asian or Asian American
- o American Indian or Alaska Native
- o Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander
- Another Race

10. Have you ever taken an educational course or class to teach you how to manage problems related to your arthritis or joint symptoms?

- o Yes
- o No

In the past year, how often have you done regularly the following activities for your arthritis? (By 'regularly' we mean roughly once a month.

11. Exercised (including water exercise)

- Not at all
- o Rarely
- Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

12. Replaced higher-intense exercises with lower-intense options, in the case of having a mild pain after exercise

- o Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

13. Stopped exercise when having severe joint pains after exercise

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

14. Exercised weekly with moderate intensity

- o Not at all
- o Rarely
- Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

15. Balanced between rest and exercise periods, if needed

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- o Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

16. Exercised daily with moderate intensity

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- \circ Always

17. Changed the dosage of your drugs or the time of taking them without informing your physician

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

18. Taken your drugs regularly and based on your prescription

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- Sometimes
- \circ Often
- \circ Always

19. Visited your physician regularly

- Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

20. Used relaxation methods such as meditation

- o Not at all
- o Rarely
- Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

21. Used methods to help control stress

- Not at all
- o Rarely
- Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

22. Used larger joints instead of smaller joints (e.g. pushing in a table by the hip joint instead of wrist joint)

- Not at all
- \circ Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

23. Taken supplements containing fish oil or omega-3 without consulting your physician

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

24. Avoided certain foods

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

25. Used massage

- \circ Not at all
- \circ Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- \circ Often
- o Always

26. Taken food supplements, vitamins, or eaten special foods

- \circ Not at all
- \circ Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- \circ Always

27. Used joint protection, bracing, or splinting

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

28. Rested

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- \circ Always

29. Adjusted your daily routine or work schedule

- \circ Not at all
- \circ Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- \circ Always

30. Talked with persons who are sympathetic

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- o Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

31. Used a heated pool, tub, or shower

- o Not at all
- o Rarely
- Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

32. Applied heat to parts of your body

- Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

33. Used some facilities (like handles, armchair and so on) in toilet, bed room and bathroom to ease the processes of sitting down, standing up and walking.

- \circ Not at all
- o Rarely
- \circ Sometimes
- \circ Often
- o Always

34. Used substances, like opium, to control pain.

- o Not at all
- o Rarely
- o Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

35. Smoked cigarette or hookah

- Not at all
- o Rarely
- Sometimes
- o Often
- o Always

For each of the following questions, give a number that corresponds to how certain you are that you can do the following tasks regularly at the present time with (1) being very uncertain to (10) very certain

36. How certain are you that you can decrease your pain quite a bit?

- 1-very uncertain
- o 2
- o 3
- o 4
- 5
- o 6
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- o 10-very certain

37. How certain are you that you can keep your arthritis or fibromyalgia pain from interfering with your sleep?

38. How certain are you that you can keep your arthritis or fibromyalgia pain from interfering with the things you want to do?

- 1-very uncertain
- o 2
- o 3
- o 4
- o 5

- o 6
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- 10-very certain

39. How certain are you that you can regulate your activity so as to be active without aggravating your arthritis or fibromyalgia?

- o 1-very uncertain
- o 2
- o 3
- 4
- o 5
- o 6 o 7
- o 7 o 8
- 89
- o 10-very certain

40. How certain are you that you can keep the fatigue caused by your arthritis or fibromyalgia from interfering with the things you want to do?

- o 1-very uncertain
- o 2
- o 3
- o 4
- o 5
- o 6
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- o 10-very certain

41. How certain are you that you can do something to help yourself feel better if you are feeling blue?

- o 1-very uncertain
- o 2
- o 3
- o 4
- o 5
- o 6
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- o 10-very certain

42. As compared with other people with arthritis or fibromyalgia like yours, how certain are you that you can manage pain during your daily activities?

- o 1-very uncertain
- o 2
- o 3
- o 4
- 5
- o 6 o 7
- 89
- 0 9 0 10
- o 10-very certain

43. How certain are you that you can deal with the frustration of arthritis or fibromyalgia?

- 1-very uncertain2
- o <u>3</u>
- o 4
- o 5
- o 6
- o 7
- o 8
- o 9
- 10-very certain

How much do you need to know NOW about each of the following things? Describe how you feel from "not important at all" to "extremely important". The first section relates to managing pain.

44. How important is it for you to know more about: Taking the best medicine for me?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

45. How important is it for you to know more about: Using heat or cold on painful joints?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important

- A little important
- Not at all important

46. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways to distract from pain

- Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

47. How important is it for you to know more about: Using relaxation?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

48. How important is it for you to know more about: Using exercise?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- o Not at all important

49. How important is it for you to know more about: Using acupuncture, ultrasound or hydrotherapy?

- Extremely important
- o Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- o Not at all important

This section relates to movement:

50. How important is it for you to know more about: Devices which would help me do practical things?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

51. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways to make lifting easier?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

52. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways to save energy?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

53. How important is it for you to know more about: Getting enough rest and sleep?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

54. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways to do things which wear my joints less?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- o Not at all important

This section relates to your feelings:

55. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways to deal with stress?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

56. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways to deal with moods or depression?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

57. How important is it for you to know more about: Why I am feeling tired?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

58. How important is it for you to know more about: Why I am feeling down or depressed?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

This section relates to your arthritis:

59. How important is it for you to know more about: What might have caused my arthritis?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

60. How important is it for you to know more about: What type of arthritis I have?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

61. How important is it for you to know more about: How arthritis might affect my children or relatives?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important
62. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways my arthritis can be treated?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

63. How important is it for you to know more about: Ways my arthritis is affecting me?

- o Extremely important
- o Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

64. How important is it for you to know more about: Why I can't do things I used to?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

65. How important is it for you to know more about: What might happen in the future?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

This section is about treatments you may be receiving from health professionals:

66. How important is it for you to know more about: Why I am taking medicines?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

67. How important is it for you to know more about: How I should take my medicines?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

68. How important is it for you to know more about: What the side-effects of my medicines are? 0

- Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

69. How important is it for you to know more about: Why I have blood tests?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

70. How important is it for you to know more about: Why I have x-rays?

- Extremely important
- o Very important
- Fairly important
- o A little important
- o Not at all important

71. How important is it for you to know more about: How an operation might help me?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- o A little important
- Not at all important

72. How important is it for you to know more about: How appliances might help me (splints, adaptations, collars)?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

This section relates to treatments you may be doing for yourself:

73. How important is it for you to know more about: Alternative treatments or herbal remedies?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

74. How important is it for you to know more about: Foods or vitamins that might help?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

75. How important is it for you to know more about: Things I should avoid doing?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

76. How important is it for you to know more about: Exercises I should be doing?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- o Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

77. How important is it for you to know more about: How much exercise I should be doing?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

78. How important is it for you to know more about: Times when I should call the doctor or nurse?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- o Not at all important

The last section relates to support from other people:

79. How important is it for you to know more about: Organizations I can get in touch with about arthritis?

- Extremely important
- o Very important
- Fairly important
- o A little important
- Not at all important

80. How important is it for you to know more about: Who I can ask about financial help?

- o Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

81. How important is it for you to know more about: Where I can find groups who will help me to cope with arthritis?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

82. How important is it for you to know more about: How I can get the most out of seeing the doctor or nurse?

- Extremely important
- Very important
- Fairly important
- A little important
- Not at all important

Thank you for your participation in this survey!

Appendix B: Research Study Flyer

Volunteers Needed <u>for a Research Study</u> involving Rheumatoid Arthritis **ARE YOU:** 1) A person who has been diagnosed with RA, 2) An adult 18 years of age or older, 3) Currently seeing a practitioner for RA 4) English speaking, 5) A U.S. citizen. **THEN:** You are invited to take part in a research study about Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) by completing an online survey that is completely anonymous and will only take around 20-30 minutes to complete!

PURPOSE: The purpose of the study is to understand RA patients' confidence (self-efficacy) and patient health education to self-manage RA symptoms and daily living activities.

CONDUCTED BY: This study is being conducted by a Ph.D. student at Walden University-Julie Vultaggio

IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO PARTICIPATE in the study, please go to the anonymous link <u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/9FLPSMK</u> to complete the study. Your information is HIPAA regulated and completed protected with personally identifiable information removed. Please RESPOND BY_____.

IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS about the study, please contact Julie at [email address redacted].

Please complete the survey one time only. Thank you so much for your assistance and participation.

Appendix C: Permission to Use the Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool



Permission to Use The Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool (ENAT)

Thank you for enquiring about the ENAT

With this letter The University of Leeds is pleased to grant you permission to use the Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool (ENAT) for clinical and/or non-commercial purposes. In this instance, non-commercial purposes means that you agree not to use the ENAT in research or other work performed for a third party, funded by a commercial third party (e.g. clinical trial) or provide the questionnaire to a third party.

When reproducing the ENAT, please include an identifier as follows:

Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool, © 2013, The University of Leeds; All rights reserved

For purposes of standardization of content, scoring and labelling, we wish to assure users of the questionnaire and interpreters of its results that the designation "ENAT" refers to the identical instrument and scoring in all cases. This allows comparison of scores across projects and applications.

Therefore, if you add questions to or delete questions from the ENAT; or embed it into a larger questionnaire; or modify its layout or order of questions, please give the modified questionnaire its own name and indicate the following on the questionnaire form, including at its end:

Questionnaire includes portions of the Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool, © 2013, The University of Leeds; All rights reserved

It is not permitted to create a non-English language version or culturally modified version of the ENAT without explicit prior permission, which will also require following an agreed adaptation protocol. For existing language versions see the web site at:

http://medhealth.leeds.ac.uk/info/732/psychometric laboratory/1493/scales

In return for royalty free permission to use the ENAT, we request that:

a. you complete and **return The University of Leeds User's Profile** form describing the way in which you plan to use the ENAT; and

In addition if you intend to use the ENAT in a research study we request that

b. the study data not be used to develop another questionnaire with the same purpose as the ENAT.

If you agree to the terms of **this letter of permission to use the ENAT, please return a signed copy for my attention** along with the completed User's Profile Form, and I will email you a copy of the ENAT.

(Scale scoring guidance notes will also be included).

For **technical advice and consultation** regarding the use of the ENAT, please contact Dr Mwidimi Ndosi, <u>m.e.ndosi@leeds.ac.uk</u> or <u>RehabMed@leeds.ac.uk</u>

Respectfully, The Scales Administrative Manager

Agreed to by:

Julie Vultaggio

Signature

Walden University Dissertation research student

Title/organisation

Please complete and return this form (preferably by email) to The University of Leeds, Section of Rehabilitation Medicine, D Floor, Martin Wing, Leeds General Infirmary, Leeds, England, LS1 3EX. Email: <u>RehabMed@leeds.ac.uk</u>



User Profile (Please type or print clearly)

Please complete and return this form to The University of Leeds, Section of Rehabilitation Medicine, D

Floor, Martin Wing, Leeds General Infirmary, Leeds, England, LS1 3EX. Email: <u>RehabMed@leeds.ac.uk</u>

User Profile (Please type or print clearly)

Please complete and return this form to The University of Leeds, Section of Rehabilitation Medicine, D

Floor, Martin Wing, Leeds General Infirmary, Leeds, England, LS1 3EX. Email: <u>RehabMed@leeds.ac.uk</u>

Principal Investigators/Project Directors Name: Julie Vultaggio				
Organisation/Department: Health Sciences				
Street Address: 100 South Washington Ave				
City: Minneapolis	County/State: MN Postcode/Zip: 55401			
Country: United States	E-mail: [redacted]mailto:			
Telephone: [redacted]	Fax:			

Organisation Type				
Indicate by placing a 'X' in the box next to the category that best describes the type or primary purpose				
of your organisation				
	Primary Care	NHS Hospital	Insurance	
	Group	Trust	Company/Health Plan	
	University/Coll	Charity	Pharmaceutical	
Х	ege		Company	
	Government	Other NHS	Other:	
	Agency			

If you propose to use the ENAT as a Clinical Screening Tool Only (IE. Not for research purposes) please tick this box and ignore the remaining questions

Briefly describe the project(s) for which you plan to use the ENAT (indicate aims, design and key sample characteristics):

Quantitative descriptive research design, non-experimental cross-sectional survey design

Project sample size: approx 100

Projects duration: 2.5 months

Methods of measurement (e.g. Mail survey): survey

Other measurement tools included (e.g. SF-36):

from: hssrehab <RehabMed@leeds.ac.uk> to: Julie Vultaggio <email address redacted> cc: Mike Horton <email address redacted>, Mwidimi Ndosi <email address redacted> date: Oct 25, 2021, 9:11 AM subject: RE: Permission to use ENAT for research-Julie Vultaggio mailed-by: leeds.ac.uk signed-by: leeds.a65.onmicrosoft.com

Dear Julie,

Thank you for returning the ENAT User Form, you're most welcome and we have now added your details to our User database. Please find attached the ENAT Scale and Scoring and we hope that this will be useful to you in your future studies and research.

With best wishes,

LIRMM Institute Secretary

Office: Chapel Allerton Hospital, 2nd Floor LIRMM, Chapeltown Road, Leeds LS7 4SAThis copy of The Arthritis Educational Needs Assessment Tool (ENAT) has been reproduced with the permission of the Psychometric Laboratory for Health Sciences, University of Leeds, UK. The ENAT is a copyright of the University of Leeds, UK. Kind regards,

Dr _____, Director,

Psychometric Laboratory for Health Sciences,

Academic Department of Rehabilitation Medicine,

Leeds Institute of Rheumatic and Musculoskeletal Medicine, University of Leeds